

# Matter Matters: On Our Moral Relationship with the Inanimate World

by Melissa Blink

A Master's Thesis

Submitted to the Department of Applied Ethics

of Utrecht University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Arts

27 February, 2023 Word count: 16,698

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

### "Yet the fully enlightened earth radiates disaster triumphant" Theodor W. Adorno

This thesis, I now realize, has been percolating in my mind since 2016, when I was lucky enough to travel through South America, on my own, for eight wonderful months. While there I got the sense that I was in a different world; that the people I met were operating from a different conception of reality than my own. I made many incredible friends and acquaintances who invited me into their lives with much warmth, love, and enthusiasm. They were vibrant manifestations of the different worldview I struggled to put my finger on. They taught me many things. One was that, stuck in one particular paradigm, one struggles to comprehend the depth of alternative worldviews' implications for the way on exists in the world. I am struggling, as I write this, to put into words what the differences in outlook were. They could be subtle or glaring; sometimes obvious, sometimes almost imperceptible. Clear but indescribable. Expressed in offhand comments, in conduct, in culture. It was the smell of the air, the color of the light. It is one thing to know or hear of other cultures, but to experience a different worldview for oneself is quite another. In any event, the friends I made and experiences we shared showed me a way of living and thinking I had not yet experienced. I am grateful to all of them, and to my dear friend Macarena Zapata in particular, whose personal philosophy is best summed up by something she once wrote to me: "amor y naturaleza sobre todo."

Returning to the Netherlands was difficult. Enveloped in the Western world, living below sea level, I could no longer see the world I had left behind. It had disappeared over the horizon, and I was left with a sense of profound alienation from the spaces I from nature and from life. If this sounds dramatic, it's because to my 19-year-old self it really was. I struggled to find the words to justify my discontent. At university, engaging in the standard debates of the Western canon, I often felt something was missing; as though someone had said something important at the start, but the discussion had moved on before it was addressed. Kant, Plato, Aristotle, Descartes, Rawls..... rationality, agency, interests, humans..... Slowly, however, the language I needed trickled in. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Chris Ranalli for the excellent Epistemology course he taught while I studied in PPE at the Vrije Universiteit in Amsterdam; to Prof. Louise du Toit at Stellenbosch University who introduced me to Critical Theory and the Frankfurt School while I studied there on exchange; and to Dr. Phil Robichaud and Prof. Dr. Martin van Hees, who introduced me to philosophy in the first place during my time in Amsterdam, and without whom I would not be studying Applied Ethics or writing this thesis today. I am also thankful to the authors of the many works I have read and cited throughout this thesis writing process. Through their work I feel as though I've finally climbed out of a conceptual hole, reached a higher vantage point, and can now see the world I left behind once again. Hilariously, once I had already written these acknowledgements, I read an article by Graham Harvey wherein he expressed that "hopefully, when the Cartesian gulf begins to look like a hole someone dug, we [can] begin to see that it is possible to climb out of it, fill it in, and walk away to do something more useful" (2006). Having climbed out of the hole, I hope that this thesis can be seen as a humble handful of soil, a small contribution to many people's noble efforts to fill it.

I also want to express my deep thanks to my wonderful supervisor, Dr. Franck Meijboom, for his invaluable support, encouragement, and instruction throughout this writing process. If he was ever as worried as I was that I wouldn't get this thesis done on time, he never showed it, for which I am most grateful of all.

#### ABSTRACT

This thesis asks how we should understand our moral relationship with inanimate matter. It argues that the philosophical history of Western modernity has led us to endorse an ontological framework which harbors problematic commitments to (Cartesian) dualism. It implicates this dominant dualist ontology in the current ecological crisis, and connects it to the subjugation of matter, which traditional ethics considers morally insignificant. The thesis first explains current standard views on the moral status of inanimate objects. Thereafter it outlines the history of the Western philosophical paradigm, demonstrates how the standard (environmental) ethical approaches are founded on problematic dualisms, and argues that Western commitments to dualism should be reconsidered. It analyzes the potential of commonly discussed alternatives to the standard ethical approaches, concludes that they fail to fully reject problematic dualisms, and argues that insights from 'new' materialist, ecofeminist, and Indigenous scholarship offer alternative ontological approaches which might help us reimagine inanimate matter as morally considerable. Finally, it discusses how these insights might change our understanding of the moral dimensions of a particular case study.

*Key words:* Inanimate objects, environmental ethics, ontological dualism, new materialism, Indigenous materialisms.

Table of Contents

Introduction	6
Chapter 1: Current Views on Inanimate Objects	10
§1.1 - The Standard View(s) of Moral Status	10
Chapter 2: Modernity and Dualism	15
§ 2.1 - On Cartesian Ontological Dualism	15
§2.2 - On Normative Dualism	18
Chapter 3 - Alternative Ethical Approaches	23
§3.1 - Holist Views	24
§3.2 - Deep Ecology	26
§3.3 - Conclusions	30
Chapter 4 - Alternative (Ontological ) Frameworks	31
§4.1 - 'New' Materialism	32
§4.2 - Virtue Ethics as an Alternative to 'Self-realization'	37
§4.3 - Indigenous Perspectives	39
Chapter 5 - A Case Study: Juukan Gorge	42
Conclusion	45
Bibliography	47

### Introduction

This thesis explores the question how we should understand our moral relationship with inanimate objects, or, more generally, *matter*. In discussing this question, I will elaborate on three general claims. First I aim to show how ontological frameworks underlying traditional Western environmental ethical approaches render them unable to extend moral consideration to inanimate matter. Second, I will argue that our current ecological problems can be understood as being grounded, in part, in our moral attitudes towards matter and inanimate objects. Third, I will argue that standard Western ontological assumptions regarding matter require critical re-examination, and that new materialist, ecofeminist, Indigenous scholarship offer important insights into possible alternative approaches.

One might wonder what the ecological crisis has to do with ontology, matter, and inanimate objects, and why we should care about the inanimate at all. After all, the consensus in Western philosophy is that inanimate objects are not moral subjects because they are neither alive nor sentient (Warren, 1997). This position seems self-evident; they cannot experience harm, so how could we argue that inanimate objects deserve moral consideration, and why would we want to? The following introduction will briefly outline the context of this question, explain why it is important, and outline the structure this thesis will follow.

We find ourselves in a global ecological crisis of unprecedented proportions, which is directly attributable to ecologically disastrous human interactions with the world (IPCC, 2022). These interactions have been shaped by various social, political, intellectual, and economic processes associated with Western modernity (Reddekop, 2014; Kureethadam 2017), all of which "reflect and manifest... a particular, dominant, Western philosophical heritage as their immanent logic" (Reddekop, 2014, p. 2). The modern Western paradigm has a number of interesting aspects, but its commitments to Cartesian dualism in particular have been linked by numerous theorists to humans' contentious relationship with the natural environment (Kureethadam, 2017; Reddekop 2014; Asch 2009; Plumwood 1994 & 1991; Mathews 2017; Conty, 2018). Joshtrom Kureethadam (2017) has argued that Descartes' ontological dualism, which starkly separates the rational, exclusively human mind from spatially extended matter, is particularly responsible for the creation of a modern worldview which sees humans as superior to the 'merely' material world. To this metaphysical step he attributes the development of a rationalistic conception of humans which has historically lent

itself to a notion of human exceptionalism, laying the foundation for ecologically disastrous human-nature relations characterized by an exploitative and dominating approach to nature. Here the link between ontology and ethics becomes clear. Descartes' theoretical steps created the basic ontological framework within which human self-perception and human-nature relations are conceived and grounded. It is also within this framework, and on the basis of these basic concepts, that environmental ethical theories are conceived. Our view of the world shapes the way we interact with it.

The view that Cartesian dualism fundamentally influenced current human attitudes towards nature is supported by ecofeminists like Val Plumwood (1994) and Freya Mathews (2017) whose work implicates dualism in the 'twin' domination of women and nature, and by critical theorists like Adorno and Horkheimer (2002) who have argued that the domination of nature is fundamental to the logic of domination more generally. Their work links the dualist schema, of which mind/matter dualism is a core feature, to various interlinked systems of social, political, and discursive power. The connection between ontological dualism, the ecological crisis, and inanimate matter becomes clearer when one considers the difficulties traditional environmental ethical approaches face when trying to articulate moral imperatives for treating the non-human world with moral consideration. Since these theories are grounded in an ontological understanding of most of the non-human world as inanimate and fundamentally lacking agency, mind, or life, it is impossible to imagine that acting upon such inert, passive matter could be anything but morally neutral. Although this seems perfectly coherent within the established logical and ontological frameworks of modern Western thought, the aforementioned theorists' work nevertheless suggests that the frameworks within which these difficulties arise are grounded in conceptual and normative choices that were made within a particular philosophical and historical context, and that these choices can be critiqued. Simply put: the way we conceive of matter affects the way we relate to our natural environment. Thus the ecological crisis can be understood as related, at least in part, to our attitudes towards the inanimate. I therefore suggest that if we are to change the way we, as humans, relate to the natural world, we need to revise our ontological understanding of matter and of ourselves.

Traditional ethical theories in the Western tradition, namely individualist utilitarian or deontological theories, have traditionally focused manly on intra-human interactions. The question of the independent moral standing of inanimate objects and matter itself rarely comes

up, unless one speaks of particular artifactual objects of cultural or aesthetic significance to humans, for example. In environmental ethics, however, the question of the inanimate tends to arise with more frequency, given the reliance of living beings on the inanimate and material elements of the natural environment. Although there have been attempts within Western environmental ethics to make sense of the moral importance of inanimate elements of ecosystems (Naess, 1984; Rolston, 1988), at least insofar as beings which we do generally take to have moral standing depend on them, my claim is that these approaches are nevertheless grounded in an ontological framework which conceives of matter in a way which make it difficult to conceive of them as mattering for their own sake. Thus, although some traditional approaches have tried to dispose of dualism and conceive of ways to extend moral consideration to the inanimate elements of the natural world, they are nevertheless grounded in the same ontological framework which subjugated inanimate matter in the first place. As such, while some approaches do have potential for extending moral consideration to the natural world, a number of theorists, including ecofeminists, 'new' materialists, and Indigenous scholars, propose critiques and alternative (ontological) viewpoints which could carry those efforts further. This thesis will explore the strategies which these alternative views provide for conceiving of matter as a morally considerable interlocutor.

This topic is socially significant because if it is indeed the case that our attitudes towards the inanimate negatively affect our way of relating to the world around us, reevaluating the way we relate to the inanimate and the ontological framework which grounds our attitudes may enable us to develop more ecologically sound behaviors. Academically, the question is significant because, as aforementioned, matter's lack of inherent moral standing is often taken for granted, and because the ontological foundations of this belief are rarely examined. When one encounters theoretical quandaries within a particular theoretical paradigm, one naturally seeks resolutions within the established logical framework. I suggest, however, that the resolution may lie in the foundations underlying traditional theoretical approaches. If the ontological assumptions which shape our moral theories indeed lead us to misguided and destructive ecological behaviors, examining them is a matter of great importance.

My research question, how we should understand our moral relationship with inanimate matter, can be understood as consisting of three sub-questions. Namely, whether our ontological assumptions currently limit our ability to conceive of the inanimate as possessing moral status, whether this is problematic, and whether alternative ontological or theoretical choices may enable us to do so instead. My hypothesis is that each of these subquestions can be answered affirmatively.

I will make the following four arguments. First, traditional Western environmental ethical theories reflect the normative and ontological dualism of the Western philosophical paradigm. This has influenced their approach to inanimate matter. Second, these dualist commitments have troubling normative implications, and revising them may provide us with more coherent theoretical paths to justifying moral consideration of inanimate matter. Third, common alternatives to the traditional views of moral status, like holist views and deep ecology, challenge some of the traditional theories' main assumptions. Nevertheless, they fail to provide adequate grounds for moral consideration of inanimate objects because they do not fully reject dualism. Fourth and finally, ecofeminist, new materialist, and Indigenous scholarship can offer fruitful insights which might carry their efforts further.

The structure of this thesis is as follows. Chapter 1 outlines current mainstream views on moral status and inanimate objects. Chapter 2 draws on Joshtrom Kureethadam's (2017) analysis of Descartes' influence on modern Western philosophy in order to outline and problematize Cartesian ontological dualism. It also discusses how Cartesian ontological dualism has coalesced with a broader normative dualist framework, and argues that the traditional views outlines in Chapter 1 are based in these dualist frameworks. Chapter 3 discusses whether commonly offered alternatives to the traditional views presented in Chapter 1, namely holist views and deep ecology, are able to accommodate moral consideration of inanimate objects, and whether they sufficiently respond to the critiques discussed in Chapter 2. I will argue that these alternatives are insufficient, and argue that an alternative *ontological* framework is necessary, and that this should be supplemented with insights from ecofeminist and Indigenous scholarship. Chapter 4 will outline the contours of an alternative ontological approach supported by ecofeminist and Indigenous theory. Chapter 5 will discuss how these insights may enrich our understanding of the moral contours of a particular case study, namely the destruction of Juukan Gorge in Pilbara, Australia by mining giant Rio Tinto. Finally, in my conclusion I summarize my arguments and identify fruitful areas for future research.

## Chapter 1: Gurrent Views on Inanimate Objects

This chapter reviews traditional theories of moral status in Western (environmental) ethics, and discusses their positions on the moral status of inanimate objects and matter. The purpose of this chapter is to highlight that traditional moral theories, despite their relative diversity, do not provide much room to incorporate inanimate objects into the sphere of moral consideration. In Chapter 2, I start to clarify the philosophical background of these positions and the ontological assumptions underlying our disregard for the moral status of the inanimate, as well as introduce some critiques of these ontological choices.

#### §1.1 - The Standard View(s) of Moral Status

Traditional ethical theories do not provide room for moral consideration of inanimate objects. The consensus in Western moral philosophy is that inanimate objects do not have moral status (Warren, 1997). It makes little sense to most Westerners to say that one has morally wronged a stone by kicking it, or that one ought to treat the stapler on one's desk with respect. Such demands give rise to numerous questions: Why *should* we respect gravel, staplers, rocks, and what would that even require? How could one wrong an object if it cannot feel pain? One can have moral obligations *with regards to* inanimate objects, by virtue of their relation to someone or something possessing moral status, but not directly to inanimate objects themselves.

Traditional ethical theories were 'designed' with human beings in mind, with the objective of prescribing moral rules for interaction between individual human beings (Santas, 1999). When the question of animal rights and moral obligations to other nonhuman entities arises, a common approach thus involves expanding extant anthropocentric moral theories to include nonhumans as well. Traditional attempts to extend moral consideration to nonhuman animals and the environment thus tend to involve identifying the characteristics that make human beings morally important and subsequently identifying which other entities fulfill the necessary and sufficient criteria. In other words, they involve identifying the features which render nonhuman beings sufficiently morally similar to human beings. Traditional views also tend to be individualist - the central locus of moral concern is the individual, as opposed to the 'whole', community, or society the individual is part of. They are also individualist in another

way. Since attempts to identify criteria for moral considerability tend to involve identifying morally relevant characteristics universally possessed by human beings and other bearers of moral status, traditional ethical theories tend to be individualist in the sense that they are implicitly predicated upon an underlying ontological understanding of individuals as discrete, constant, ready-made entities (Ibid.). The "problem of ethics" is thus taken to "consist primarily in getting these disparate entities to consider the interests of one another" (Ibid., p. 9). Of course, there are also holistic environmental ethical views, which are more concerned with 'wholes' like (biotic) communities or ecosystems than with their individual members. Their capacity to extend moral consideration to inanimate objects will be discussed in Chapter 3, once individualist views have been discussed. Both holist and individualist views, however, are individualist in the latter sense just described, in that they subscribe to a kind of *ontological* individualism, which will be discussed in greater detail in the second, third, and fourth chapters.

According to Palmer (2005), individualist theories can be roughly divided along three major axes: (1) Consequentialist/deontological views, which represent the two most influential schools of moral theories, (2) sentience/life-based views, and (3) egalitarian/ hierarchical views. The following paragraphs will briefly summarize these axes. Consequentialist views are mainly concerned with maximization of pleasure and the minimization of pain across all members of a group of morally considerable entities, or with maximizing preference satisfaction. Deontological views are concerned with ensuring that beings with moral status are treated not as means but as ends in themselves, regardless of consequentialists, interest are what make harm and benefit (or pleasure and pain, utility and disutility) possible, whereas for deontologists possession of interests is a component of being intrinsically deserving of moral consideration, because possessing them makes one the "subject-of-a-life", as put by Tom Regan (1984, p. 244), and thus a being that deserves to be treated as important for its own sake. Thus arises the question, what are the necessary conditions for the possession of interests?

Here the second axis arises; the distinction between sentience-based and life-based views. Sentience-based views hold that the ability to have positive and negative experience of pleasure and pain, for example, is a necessary condition for the possession of interests, or ends that can be thwarted. On these views, sentience is a necessary condition for the

possession of interests, and thus for moral considerability, and insentient beings cannot have real interests since they lack perception of positive and negative experiences. An example of a sentience-based view is Peter Singer's, who believes that "*pain* and *suffering* are bad and should be minimized irrespective of the race, sex, or species of the being that suffers" (1979, p. 54, emphasis added). If a being cannot experience pain or suffering, then one's treatment of it cannot be judged as objectionable. Others propose that sentience is unnecessary for the possession of interests because all living things, even the insentient, have an interest in survival regardless of whether they are *aware* of this interest, or *consciously* devote their efforts to survival (Verhoog & Visser, 1997). An influential theory in this vein is Paul Taylor's (2011), whose deontological and Aristotelian view bases inherent worth on the condition of being a teleological center of life (Paske, 1989). On his view, all living organisms pursue their own survival, wellbeing, and other ends, and thus have interests in a morally relevant sense whether or not they are sentient or conscious of them.

Finally, views can be hierarchical or egalitarian. Hierarchical accounts hold that beyond the baseline criteria for moral status, certain additional characteristics can make one entity's interests weigh more heavily than another's, should their interests come to conflict. Egalitarian views, on the other hand, hold that the interests of beings which reach the minimal threshold for moral consideration have equal weight. This distinction can lead to hierarchical and egalitarian views prescribing different weighing of entities' interests, and thus favoring different outcomes in the event of conflicts of moral status holders' interests.

Despite their differences, none of these traditional Western approaches enable the extension of moral consideration to, or the possession of moral status by, the inanimate. This is because their fundamental logic is that for a being to matter for its own sake, a notion which is tied to our definition of moral status, it must have a sake of its own in the first place. That is, it must have interests, for which it must, at minimum, be alive. Since moral status is tied to the possession of interests, and thus minimally to the condition of life, inanimate objects and matter itself do not stand a chance.

One might contend, however, that traditional theories *do* make room for moral consideration of some types of inanimate objects. It is not uncommon for people to insist that objects of great aesthetic, cultural, or historic value are treated with respect. A recent example of this was the global outrage at two climate activists throwing a can of soup at a Van Gogh painting, and gluing themselves to the wall beneath it (Gayle, 2022). Had the painting actually

been damaged, which is what not because it was behind protective glass, it would have been seen as an affront not only to the late artist himself, but also to the entirety of humanity whose cultural and artistic patrimony the painting is part of. However, this moral outrage does not reflect concern for the rights of the painting itself - it has only indirect moral status, derived from moral obligations towards moral status holders with a particular relationship to the object.

This distinction between direct and indirect moral worth can also be described in terms of the different kinds of value-concepts outlined by Paul Taylor (2011), who distinguishes between inherent worth, inherent value, and intrinsic value. Inherent worth is defined by Taylor as something an entity X possesses "*if a state of affairs in which the good of X is* realized is better than an otherwise similar state of affairs in which it is not realized... (a) independently of X's being valued, either intrinsically or instrumentally, by some human values, and (b) independently of X's being in fact useful in furthering the ends of a conscious being or in furthering the realization of some other being's good" (Taylor, 2011, p. 75). This is contrasted with *intrinsic value*, possessed by things or events when they are valued, by humans or other conscious beings, because they experience it as enjoyable, and value it because of its enjoyableness. The pursuit of a postgraduate degree might, for example, be intrinsically valuable to a student; regardless of the instrumental value of obtaining it, the student may find the very experience of studying a degree an enjoyable and satisfying end in itself. To this student, the postgraduate degree has both instrumental and intrinsic value. It is also contrasted with *inherent value*, possessed by things that are valuable not instrumentally or commercially, but because they are beautiful, or of personal, historic or cultural importance.

The latter kinds of value both depend on an object's being valued by a person or conscious being. That is, things are *endowed* with such value, and it is thus "not "inherent" in the sense of belonging to them independently of how they happen to be valued by other people" (Ibid., p. 74). Using these terms, then, we can establish that we attribute to the Van Gogh painting *intrinsic* and *inherent value*, but not *inherent worth*, because it does not have a good or ends of its own that can be furthered or thwarted. It ought to be treated with care or respect not for its own sake, but for the sakes of beings that value it. These sources of value are purely anthropocentric, and inanimate objects and matter itself cannot be understood as having inherent worth of the kind which confers the type of moral importance which

traditional views are concerned with. Ultimately, the term *inherent worth* refers to a thing's being an end in itself, while the latter two kinds of value refer to the value possessed by things that are means to an end. The notion of moral status employed by the traditional, individualist theories described above is related to the notion of *inherent worth*, and not the latter value concepts. Traditional, individualist theories of moral status may take inanimate objects and matter to possess the latter two kinds of value, but they do not satisfy the central criterion for inherent worth, which can be possessed "only by things that have a good of their own" (Ibid., p. 75). Although Taylor's use of these terms is not uniformly applied throughout philosophical literature - inherent worth is sometimes referred to by others as intrinsic worth or value, for example - I will be adopting Taylor's use of the terms throughout this thesis for clarity.

In conclusion, I would like to highlight that despite the apparent divergence of the views described above, they are fundamentally similar. As we have seen, the Western mainstream does offer a number of different views. In terms of their practical consequences the views described above are worlds apart; *within* their shared frame of reference, Singer and Taylor's views could not be more different. Nevertheless, they still orbit the same fundamental conception of potential moral subjects: individual living beings with interests that can flourish. Taylor's view is perhaps the most radically inclusive of the individualist views, but his main concern is still the is 'widening' of the moral circle, and he therefore still functions around the same core as Singer, Regan, and the rest. None of the aforementioned views enable direct moral consideration of inanimate objects and life is, for all of them, a baseline requirement for moral status.

These traditional views may appear unremarkable, in that their lack of concern for inanimate objects appears logical and self-evident. Indeed, if an object is not alive and cannot be harmed in a way that matters to it, why should it be treated with concern and what would that mean anyway? To clarify why this may be problematic, it is important first to understand the philosophical background of the ontological assumptions and premises underlying their disregard for inanimate matter. This is important because our ontological assumptions inform our conception of human identity, and what we think makes humans, and beings sufficiently similar to them, morally important. As aforementioned, these ontological foundations have been implicated in the domination of nature, and in various other interrelated relationships of hierarchy, domination, and oppression. The next chapter provides some context for our ontological choices, and their link to domination of nature.

### Chapter 2: Modernity and Dualism

This chapter outlines the ontological and normative dualist frameworks which, I argue, underlie the ethical theories described in Chapter 1. My characterization of Cartesian substance dualism follows Kureethadam's analysis thereof, presented in his book 'The Philosophical Roots of the Ecological Crisis' (2017). The relevance of views on the moral status of inanimate objects to the ecological crisis and human-nature relations is also discussed. Three features of Western philosophical thought are highlighted: (1) Human-nature relations are viewed as dualistic, (2) normative dualism lends itself to hierarchical relationships between dualised terms, and (3) Western thought places primacy on individuals, rather than wholes or relationally interlinked entities.

#### § 2.1 - On Cartesian Ontological Dualism

The European Enlightenment is widely considered the catalyst for the onset of 'modernity,' the current intellectual and cultural epoch of human history. Of the Enlightenment's thinkers, Rene Descartes was particularly influential. Often dubbed the 'father of modern philosophy,' his philosophical contributions defined central debates in modern epistemology and ontology. In 'The Philosophical Roots of the Ecological Crisis' (2017), Kureethadam identifies Descartes' philosophical legacy as having borne "the triple foundations of the Modern worldview - in terms of its exaggerated anthropocentrism, a mechanistic conception of the natural world, and the metaphysical dualism between humanity and the rest of the physical world" (p. 5). He furthermore claims that these characteristics have directly influenced human-nature relations. Insofar as Descartes' work was foundational to the modern Western ontological framework, his ontological dualism also underlies modern (environmental) ethics.

Cartesian dualism refers to Descartes' substance dualism: the thesis that there are two distinct kinds of substance or foundation: non-physical and non-spatial mind, which is identified with consciousness and whose essence is thinking, and spatially extended physical matter, whose essence is extension (Robinson, 2023). Descartes' dualism greatly influenced the modern debate about the mind-body problem; the question of the relationship between the mind, and the brain and body (Ibid.). However, although his work is often discussed in terms of the mind-body problem, his thesis extends to a broader ontological dualism. On the one

hand, Cartesian dualism is "the thesis that man is a compound of two distinct substances - *res cogitans*, unextended thinking substance, or mind, and *res extensa*, extended corporeal substance, or body" (Cottingham, 1986, p. 119). But *res extensa* also encompasses the rest of the physical world beyond human beings and any other mind-possessing beings. The mind/ body split is part of a greater mind/matter dualism.

Descartes likely did not set out to establish a normative hierarchy between mind and matter or humans and nature. Nevertheless, an exaggerated anthropocentrism and a mechanistic view of the physical world, both of which have lent themselves to the ecological crisis, are part of his work's legacy (Robinson, 2023; Kureethadam, 2017. To see how this came to be we must understand Descartes' definition of human identity and his epistemological strategy.

On a metaphysical level, Descartes understands the identity of the human self as *res cogitans*. That is, the self, the human essence or soul, "gets reduced to sole rationality, and rationality itself is further trimmed down to thinking or consciousness alone" (Kureethadam, 2017, p. 138).<sup>1</sup> Conscious thought thus becomes what is most essentially and authentically human, or what a human most essentially and authentically is. This is because the only thing one can know indubitably is that one is thinking, and thus that one is, most fundamentally, a thinking thing; the self is identified with the incorporeal mental substance. The rest of the physical world, including our bodies, is considered mere *res extensa* (Kureethadam, 2017, p. 5). The mind is pure intellect, the body pure extension. Man is defined by his rational mind alone, and he is alone in being this. This lends itself to the mechanistic worldview whereby matter is seen as completely devoid of mind, agency, and subjectivity. Since the mind is the exclusive domain of humanity, and matter is devoid of mind, the body and the physical world - all of non-human nature, including animate but insentient beings - become dead, passive, and inert, moved along only by external physical forces or by possessors of mind and agency.

Nature is reduced to the mechanistic, the inevitable, and it is here that the trouble of extending moral consideration to anything other than humans, be they animate or inanimate, commences. This clarifies why most efforts to do so have involved searching for mind-like qualities in other-than-human animals, leaving inanimate objects, and matter itself, in the dust. The mind is the thing that morally animates humanity, distinguishes it from the merely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Here we see a precursor to the normative dualism to be discussed in the following section: rationality is linked to the conscious, thinking mind. Emotions, linked to the body, are excluded from the realm of reason.

mechanistic physical world, and allows us to transcend mere corporeality. It is this rationalism, the identification of humans with the possession of a rational mind, which underlies a disregard for 'mere' matter.

The uniqueness of the human subject is further strengthened by Descartes' epistemology, which establishes the absolute "primacy of subjectivity" (Ibid., p. 127). Descartes defines man as the "absolute foundation for the representation of reality" (Ibid. p. 128) by first asserting that if one can know anything indubitably, it is that one is thinking, and so long one thinks, one exists. So long as one thinks, one knows that one is "a thinking thing." *Cogito, ergo sum* is thus the first epistemological principle: it is *the* fact which can be affirmed before any other, and thus affirms the subject as the anchor and foundation for all knowledge of the 'external' world. Any knowledge of the world is thus rendered representational; reality is ""represented" by the subject," thereby becoming like a picture, made possible "only because the human being has emerged as the subject" (Heidegger, 1977, pp. 132-134; qtd. Kureethadam, 2017, p. 135). In this representational epistemology the human subject objectifies all else - everything beyond humanity becomes a mere 'representation' of which humans are the masters and creators, and thus "things become "real" or "actual" insofar as they are "objectified" by the cognizing subject" (Zimmerman, 1990).

These ontological and epistemological moves also produce the ontological individualism mentioned in Chapter 1. This ontological individualism frames our understanding of moral subjects and agents as discrete, bounded individual entities possessed of particular properties, like rationality, free will, and subjectivity. These particular qualities, possessed in principle by all humans, are what allow them and only them to be moral persons in the fullest sense in, for example, hierarchical ethical theories. The Cartesian definition of humans as individual, rational beings who are the seat of knowledge of the external world can be contrasted with the starting point of *relational* ontological positions, which Reddekop (2014) describes as "beginning with the assumption that *relations* are prior, that any atomistic "thing" is rather only a kind of (at least temporary) fixity or concrescence, a gathering constituted in and through these prior, dynamic, and contextual relations" (p. 35). This individualism also underlies the dualistic distinction drawn between subjects and objects, both of which are seen as 'atomistic,' bounded individuals. Moreover, it underlies our very understanding of the world as constituted and inhabited by individual subjects and objects. We speak of inanimate objects and whether or not they universally possess qualities which might

afford them moral status. Underlying this language is an understanding of them as fixed entities which may interact but whose interactions are secondary to their existence, rather than seeing them as temporary coalescences of 'flows' of materials, fundamentally constituted by and through these constant flows. As will be discussed in following chapters, this ontological position influences both our understanding of human-nature relations, and of the moral position of the inanimate.

Of course, Descartes' substance dualism is not uncontested. Modern philosophy has seen a number of different ontological positions emerge, including a variety of monist positions and various different kinds of dualisms beyond Cartesian substance dualism (Robinson, 2023). One might therefore argue that the normative valuations of mind and matter associated with Cartesian thought are not universally accepted, since other theories have different upshots. If this is the case, one might wonder why we should take Cartesian dualism to underlie our environmental ethics and our current positions on the moral status of the inanimate. I argue that Cartesian dualism is nevertheless relevant not only because it fundamentally influenced and continues to ground the ontological debates that followed it, but also because Descartes' ontological dualism coalesced with a broader normative and symbolic dualist schema which organizes all manner of concepts and (ontological) categories in terms of which Western culture, and its moral theories, are conceived and articulated. Although it was not Descartes' intention, his ontological dualism is linked with this overarching cultural, symbolic, and normative dualist framework. It is in this normative dualism that our ontological dualism, our understanding of mind and matter as distinct substances, and our identification of our human selves with the former substance, meet our cultural imaginations and concept associations.

#### §2.2 - On Normative Dualism

Dualism in general refers to the notion that in "some particular domain, there are two fundamental kinds or categories of things or principles" (Robinson, 2023). Various dualisms have been identified by scholars across various fields. In Philosophy of Mind we see mindbody dualism, in Theology dualists may believe that Good and Evil are distinct forces (Ibid.), and feminists often take issue with the male/female dualism which underlies common views on the gender binary, for example (Plumwood, 2014; Mathews, 2017). Although these dualisms are not *necessarily* associated with other dualist sets and can be discussed in their independent contexts, many of them are discursively and symbolically interconnected, acting within the cultural imagination like different threads of a single web of dualistic symbols and associations. What I have termed Normative Dualism can thus be understood as a conceptual framework which organizes categories and concepts fundamental to Western culture and imagination into a schema of dual, hierarchically-ordered opposites (Mathews, 2017). Some notable binaries, drawn from Mathews (2017, p. 57) and Plumwood (2014), include:

- Mind/Matter
- Culture/Nature
- Human/Nature
- Human/Animal
- Male/Female
- Reason/Emotion
- Rational/Irrational
- Thought/Feeling
- Soul/Body
- Public/Private
- Civilization/Savagery
- White people/BIPOC<sup>2</sup>
- Animate/Inanimate
- Conscious/Unconscious
- Abstract/Concrete
- Universal/Particular
- Subject/Object

In her book 'Feminism and the Mastery of Nature' (1994), ecofeminist philosopher Val Plumwood identifies a number of dynamics present in the dualist framework. The following summary has been drawn from Freya Mathews' (2017) comprehensive overview of Plumwood's work.

First and foremost, in the dualist framework terms are dichotomized and construed as hyper-separate opposites. Second, all the terms on one side of the binary are systemically associated with all the other terms on that side of the binary. One of the most recognizable examples of this is the gender binary, whose dual counterparts are commonly associated with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Black, Indigenous, (and) People of Color

other sets of dual terms. Women have long been associated with nature, emotion, irrationality, animality, all which terms are contrasted with and subjugated to their dual counterparts: men, who are associated with culture, reason, rationality, and humanity. As put by Plumwood, whose concern was primarily to link the subjugation of nature to the oppression of women, "the terms on the higher, left-hand side of the binaries [are] systematically associated with, and [serve] to define, masculinity, while those on the lower, right-hand side [are] associated with, and [serve] to define, the feminine" (1994, qtd. Mathews, 2017, p. 57). Though Plumwood focuses on gender, this is not the only possible point of departure. Throughout the European colonial project of the 16th through 20th centuries, for example, colonized peoples were discursively linked with nature, savagery, irrationality, and animality (Roothaan, 2019).

This brings us to the third characteristic: the binaries are hierarchical. That is, all things on the left side of the binary are considered normatively superior to all terms on the right side. Mind is elevated above matter, reason above emotion, rationality above irrationality. This can be traced back to Descartes' ontological dualism: the former terms are associated with agency, the latter with passivity. Furthermore, given the second characteristic, *all* terms on the left side can potentially be construed as superior to *any* term on the right, which creates complex symbolic relationships between terms across different sets.

From here we can also identify a number of dynamics imposed upon the binaries' inferior terms: inferior categories can or tend to be (1) *backgrounded*, as when nature is construed as a mere backdrop for human life, (2) *instrumentalized*, as when women's efforts in the private sphere are taken to serve primarily to create the material conditions for men to make history through their participation in the public sphere; nature is taken to 'serve' primarily to provide resources for human purposes; or "the body is seen as a mere vessel for the mind" (Mathews, 2017, p. 58), (3) *incorporated* into superior terms, meaning that they are defined primarily in terms of their difference (or deficiency) relative to superior terms, as when animals are considered primarily in terms of their (dis)similarity to humans rather than their own "specific excellences" (Ibid.), and (4) *homogenized* relative to the superior term, in that they are lumped together, their diversity ignored, and defined en masse in opposition to the superior term. For example, Mathews points out that "all sentient life on the planet is lumped together under the category 'animals' in contradistinction to the category 'human', despite the fact that the human is in reality only one animal species among a staggeringly vast and various array of others" (Ibid.).

These characteristics of the normative dualist framework serve to reinforce relations of domination. Superior terms are afforded specificity, internality, prominence, and are posited as the 'standard,' whereas the inferior terms are homogenized, backgrounded, instrumentalized, and othered. Although these normative associations do not interfere with the facts that are available to us, for example, that humans are but one of many animals, or that rocks are but one of many different kinds of 'inanimate objects,' they nevertheless affect our way of thinking about and approaching these things. Since the hierarchical associations are interlinked and able to cross particular sets of dualised terms, this normative framework lends itself to diverse hierarchical relations. This sheds light on the dynamics underlying the claim, made by the critical theorists of the Frankfurt School, that instrumentalized reason plays a critical role in "constructing a notion of nature as the ultimate object of domination" (Ibid.), and the further claim that "the domination of nature served as the ideological template for political domination generally" (Leiss 1972; qtd. Mathews, 2017, p. 55).

This claim also illustrates how cultural contexts coalesced with and influence ontology. Francis Bacon, who preceded the Enlightenment but greatly influenced it nevertheless, posited that knowledge obtained through systematic inquiry "would not only be exempt from the influence of wealth and power but would establish man as the master of nature" (qtd. Adorno & Horkheimer, 2002, p. 1). Dominion over nature through the application of knowledge was an ostensible objective of the Enlightenment project; when Bacon proclaimed that "now we govern nature in opinions, but we are thrall unto her in necessity; but if we would be led by her in invention, we should command her by action" (qtd. Ibid.), he set the tone for the Enlightenment's view of nature.

The dynamics described above are all crystallized in what Plumwood has termed a 'master identity,' which is fluid and serves to define power dynamics in myriad situations (Plumwood, 1994; Mathews, 2017). Mathews gives the example of a white woman in a colonial context. In relation to her male counterparts, this woman is usually defined by her proximity to nature, irrationality, emotionality, animality. In the colonial context, however, the white woman temporarily comes to represent all the superior terms, while the colonized or Indigenous people come to assume, relative to her, the inferior identity she usually occupies; associated with the irrationality, primitivism, animality, emotionality, and proximity to nature (Mathews 2017, p. 59; Plumwood, 1994). My reason for explaining all this is that central to the master identity, according to Plumwood, is the reason/nature (or mind/matter) dichotomy

(1994). As argued in the first section of this chapter, that which has come most essentially to define the human self in the Western paradigm, at least since Descartes, is the mind, or *reason*, construed as substantively distinct to feeling, the body, nature, and so on. This particular quality has been elevated above all else, and whoever is more closely associated with it in a particular situation, relative to the other actors involved, is elevated into a superior, more human, more civilized, more authoritative position (Mathews, 2017, p. 59). This reveals the connection between dualism and a defining tenet of modernity: rationalism, which is the foundation of modern Western anthropocentrism and human exceptionalism. It also clarifies how the seemingly non-normative, purely ontological separation of mind and matter becomes a value-laden vehicle of political power-asymmetries. Thus, the disregard for the inanimate expressed in the traditional (environmental) ethical approaches previously outlined can be traced back to an ontological distinction between mind and matter, which has been imbued with value judgements through the Western normative dualist framework. Mind is seen not only as ontologically distinct from matter, but is furthermore seen as a tool by which matter, nature, the body, and so on, can be *mastered* (Adorno & Horkheimer, 2002).

One objective of this chapter has been to demonstrate that ontological assumptions shape the ethical theories built upon them. The ontological framework underlying traditional Western (environmental) ethical approaches is rooted in Cartesian substance dualism, which has encouraged a rationalist and individualist conception of human identity and a mechanistic view of matter and the physical world. This ontological mind/matter dualism is accompanied by a dualist normative framework, which encourages us to regard matter as unimportant, and to attach moral worth to reason, mind, agency, and interests. When matter is seen as passive and lacking agency, and humans are seen as possessing unique subjectivity, representational power, and agency, this leads to an obfuscation of the relational, interconnected quality of the natural systems humans are embedded in. Chapter 3 will discuss a number of theoretical approaches which have traditionally been offered as alternatives to the individualist views described in Chapter 1, and examine whether they might allow us to depart from these dualisms and justify moral consideration of inanimate objects.

### **Chapter 3 - Alternative Ethical Approaches**

As we saw in Chapter 1, the traditional views on moral status, represented by sentience or life-centered and egalitarian or hierarchical individualist views, do not offer much opportunity for moral consideration of inanimate objects. This is because they are based on an ontological framework which 1) starkly separates mind from matter, 2) sets the latter up as a passive substance lacking life, agency, or interests, and 3) conceives of subjects and objects as being static, discrete, ready-made units which interact with each other, but are nevertheless fully separable. They are also rooted in a broader normative framework which associates all manner of terms with mind and matter, and places them in hierarchical symbolic relationships. These factors have led to a particular ontological understanding of human identity, a particular understanding of the ontological make-up of the physical world and matter, and to a focus on individual subjects and objects, rather than on the relations and connections 'between' them. If an ethical approach is to extend moral consideration to inanimate objects and matter, it must depart from these ontological and normative dualisms. More specifically, it must be compatible with a non-dual, non-rationalistic definition of human identity, a non-dual understanding of mind and matter, and reject the ontological individualism, or 'atomism.'

Various kinds of holist views, as well as the deep ecology approach, have been offered in response to various alleged shortcomings of individualist views, though not necessarily out of concern for inanimate objects. More specifically, holism and deep ecology recognize and emphasize the importance of collectives, not just individuals. Deep ecology also explicitly tries to depart from the dualisms discussed in Chapter 2. This chapter assesses whether these alternative views might offer adequate avenues for moral consideration of inanimate objects. I will argue that while these alternatives offer some valuable insights, none of them fully succeed in providing adequate grounds for moral consideration of the inanimate and furthermore fail to fully depart from problematic dualisms. In Chapter 4 I will argue that they should be complemented with insights from ecofeminist, new materialist, and Indigenous philosophy. In the following section I will discuss holist views, before moving on to a discussion of deep ecology in the second section.

#### §3.1 - Holist Views

Where individualist theories take individuals to be the most important unit for moral consideration, holists consider 'wholes' to be the locus of moral value. Holist views are, of course, varied, but their general position is that wholes or collectives can be considered cohesive units, and that they are morally considerable. In environmental ethics this involves an emphasis on species, ecosystems, or the entire biosphere. Furthermore, holist views often hold that wholes have ethical *priority* over their parts (Palmer, 2005). Beyond this, holist environmental ethical theories vary greatly. They have different views, for example, on whether wholes are to be considered an individual unit or a web of connections, or which whole is the appropriate unit of focus. There are also different views on the source of wholes' value, on the moral value of individual parts of wholes, and on the source of individual parts' value if they are indeed considered valuable in their own right.

One example is Aldo Leopold's view. His book 'A Sand County Almanac' (1949) is often considered a foundational, albeit controversial, text in holist environmental ethics. He believes that individuals are valuable not because of their individual possession of qualities like rationality or sentience, but insofar as they contribute to the functioning of the whole (1949). Another example is Holmes Rolston's view, which involves a sort of synthesis of both individualist and holist values and holds that individuals, species, and ecosystems are valuable units (Rolston, 1988; Palmer, 2005). Individual organisms have inherent worth on account of being teleological centers of life with goods of their own (Ibid.). Entire species are also valuable not just in terms of the aggregate value of their individual members, but because they are an independent form of life which defends itself and thus has a good of its own (Ibid.). Finally, ecosystems are valuable in that they are an indispensable foundation for the lives of their individual constituents (Ibid.). Palmer summarizes Rolston's view as holding that "ethical attention should not be focused on an ecosystem as an individual, but rather as an interconnected matrix within which life evolved and continues to develop. As the womb of life, both producing and nurturing it, the ecosystem is an appropriate unit for moral concern. It would be bizarre, Rolston insists, to value the organisms, products of the system, without valuing the process which produced them" (2005).

Whatever different positions holist views may have, their central intuition demonstrates how inanimate things can possibly gain moral relevance in holist theories. If the

condition for moral importance is contribution to life-supporting systems, or simply membership of a morally significant whole or collective, then inanimate objects might meet the criteria for moral standing. One of holists' central critiques of individualists is that, in their focus on (interactions between) individuals, they overlook individuals' reliance on the systems that support their very existence (Palmer, 2005). If one ignores individuals' embeddedness in systems, one can also easily overlook the vital role that inanimate elements play in these systems.

Of course, not all holist views assign inherent worth to inanimate objects. Given their different positions on the source of inherent worth of individual parts of ecosystems, they disagree on whether nonsentient living things like plants possess inherent worth, or how their interests must be weighed against the interests of rational and sentient beings, for example. Nevertheless, if one argues that membership of a collective is what confers moral importance on entities, this creates an avenue for arguing that inanimate objects are morally important and considerable. Thus, the two most important insights to be gleaned form holist views are that individuals exist within and depend upon broader systems, and that insofar as all constitutive parts of this system are mutually dependent for their survival, they are all morally significant. Of course, this statement requires some qualification: within particular systems certain actors are harmful to the whole, as in the case of invasive species in a particular ecosystem. On a macro-scale, however, all the Earth's constituents co-evolved, and interconnectedness and mutual dependence, support, and constitution are facts which holist views rightly emphasize but individualist views risk overlooking. From here we can argue that the inanimate world does more than provide a mere backdrop for human and other animal activities, and that it is thus also morally significant in a way that ought, perhaps, to inspire some level of moral respect or recognition.

Nevertheless, and despite these valuable insights, holist views have some drawbacks for our purposes. One is that they do not fully depart from ontological individualism. Second, they do not truly provide satisfactory grounds for moral status for inanimate objects. As a result, they maintain various dualisms and dualist logic generally. The following paragraphs will elaborate on these critiques in turn.

Both iterations which define wholes as morally significant individual units, and iterations like Rolston's which value ecosystems insofar as they produce and support the individual lives of the system's constituents, do not question the ontological category of

'individual' somethings, be they biotic wholes or their individual members. Rather than decentering individuals, the former iteration simply shifts its focus to a different, more 'broadly' defined individual unit, whereas the latter iterations consider wholes a collection of individual members. Thus, as mentioned in Chapter 1, holist views are individualist in the ontological sense that they understand individuals to be discrete, ready-made entities which can be described as universally possessing certain qualities which make them morally considerable. Though this ontological conception of individuals has a robust background in the Western philosophical canon, this position nevertheless demonstrates an ontological focus on individuals, conceived in a very particular way, as opposed to a focus on relationships and connections which do not only occur between individuals, but actively constitute them. Individuals are prioritized, while the relations which constitute them are somewhat overlooked. Put differently, while holist theories do go some way in recognizing the fact and moral significance of the interconnectedness of a collective's constituents, they fall short of emphasizing the kind of relationality discussed by Reddekop (2014), described in Chapter 2. That is, while they recognize the interconnectedness of individual beings, they are still based on an ontological understanding of individuals as separate entities. The difference between relationality and simply acknowledging interconnectedness is an ontological difference, as will be elucidated in Chapter 4.

Secondly, while holist theories do offer some room for valuing inanimate objects and matter, this is only insofar as the inanimate are members of or contribute to the functioning of the biotic system. On this view, inanimate objects remain only instrumentally or derivatively valuable, rather than mattering for their own sake. Finally, holist theories fail to depart fully from the dualist framework I sought to problematize in Chapter 1. The ontological divisions of the animate subject from the inanimate object, of living mind and inert matter, still stand, as does the normative schema which prioritize the former over the latter terms.

#### §3.2 - Deep Ecology

Deep ecology is often associated with holism, but I treat it here separately because it has developed a significant following and is one of the more radical departures from the traditional views, although it is nevertheless a permanent fixture in environmental ethics curricula. What sets deep ecology apart from other (holist) ethical theories is, perhaps, that it is not just a philosophical approach, but rather a political, social, and ideological *movement*.

Norwegian philosopher Arne Naess was dissatisfied with what he called the 'shallow ecology' movement, which takes a solely instrumental view of the natural world, and approaches environmental issues from the anthropocentric aim of protecting the wellbeing and affluence of people in 'developed countries' (Baard, 2015, p. 25; Katz et al., 2000). In 1972 he thus coined the term 'deep ecology,' wanting to promote a holistic environmental ethic and effect not just "a slight reform of our present society, but a substantial reorientation of our whole worldview" and of the "social structure of modernity" (Katz et al., 2000, p. ix). In fact, Katz et al. argue, deep ecology has an explicitly ontological orientation, wanting to construct an ideology which centers the "fundamental ontological interrelatedness and identification of all life forms, natural objects, and ecosystems" (Ibid., p. xiv), and strives not to be just one of many environmental ethical *theories* proposed within the standard ontological framework, but to propose a different ontology or worldview from which ethical and political recommendations are to be derived (Baard, 2015; Katz et al., 2000).

Another central characteristic of deep ecology is its assertion of the inherent worth of the natural world. This is expressed in the first of its eight tenets, which states that "the wellbeing and flourishing of human and nonhuman life on Earth have value in themselves (synonyms: inherent worth, intrinsic value, inherent value). These values are independent of the usefulness of the nonhuman world for human purposes." (Naess & Sessions, 1984)

Furthermore, deep ecology calls for the development of a human identity which integrates the inherent worth of nature into its fundamental understanding of self. In other words, deep ecology calls for the development of a new, ecological conception of self, stylized as the 'Self,' through "the process of forming a metaphysical commitment to the earth, referred to as *self-realization*, an unfolding of the self out into nature to attain a transcendental, *non-egoic*, state" (Smith & Gough, 2015; Naess, 1995). The Self should transcend the narrow individual ego and strive to be "as expansive a sense of self as possible" (Fox 1990b, p. 106). Humans are to identify not only with themselves, as individuals and as human beings, but rather to recognize that their interconnectedness with and dependence on the natural world means that they should respond to other beings' interests as *their* interests (Plumwood, 1994; Naess, 1984, p. 261). This takes the expansionist approach of the

traditional views a step further in calling not just for an expansion of the moral circle, but a metaphysical expansion of one's concept of self.

Deep ecology can, perhaps, carry us slightly further in the direction of moral consideration for the inanimate than the previously discussed holist views. I identified three issues with holist views, namely their apparent commitment to ontological individualism, the instrumental, life-supporting value assigned to the inanimate, and their continued upholding of certain significant dualisms. Deep ecology goes some way in ameliorating these concerns. For example, its explicit call for a change in our ontological stance, for an understanding of the human Self as intimately connected with our environments, goes some way in rejecting ontological individualism by emphasizing relationality. It also contributes to providing grounds for moral consideration of the inanimate aspects of the natural world by asserting the natural world's inherent, non-instrumental worth. In fact, Smith and Gough (2015) note, deep ecology calls for "love and respect of all nature (Fox 1990b), including the inanimate parts of the ecosystem such as mountains and rivers" (p. 40). Naess was, on this point, inspired by Spinoza's metaphysics (Naess, 2005). Through the development of the ecological Self we can come to truly integrate the notion of the inherent worth of all of nature into our identities, and come to identify our interests with the interests of the entire biosphere. Furthermore, deep ecology aims to undermine the human/nature dualism, for which Self-realization is its strategy.

This desire to undermine human/nature dualism is promising, and at first glance, deep ecology appears quite compatible with the criteria described in the introduction to this chapter. It explicitly intends to reject human/nature dualism, and questions our metaphysical separation from, and presumed superiority to, the rest of the world. Furthermore, its plea that we expand our idea of self to include all of nature, including, apparently, mountains and rivers, creates potential for a non-instrumental valuing of inanimate objects. Nevertheless, deep ecology falls short of the mark, and in its current form is cannot full support assertion of the inherent worth of inanimate matter. For one, its central tenets are expressed in life-centered language, asserting the inherent worth of all "human and nonhuman *life* on Earth" (Naess & Sessions, 1984). Although Smith and Gough (2015) claim that deep ecology calls for love and respect of inanimate elements of the natural world, this is not reflected in deep ecology's language. Its position on inanimate objects is vague, and given the life-centered formulation of its central tenets it appears not to explicitly recognize the dualist distinction

that is made between the animate and inanimate. This life-centeredness is also reflected in the Self-realization strategy. The aim of developing the Self is to get humans to identify with the *interests* of nonhumans. Insofar as only living things can have interests, the strategy is still inherently life-centered.

Moreover, even though deep ecology aims to undermine human/nature dualism using the Self-realization strategy, it fails to undermine or question other dualisms that underlie the human/nature dichotomy. The Self-realization strategy calls for a departure from individual egoism, from human selfishness and a failure to identify with the interests of other beings with whom we are inescapably linked. In her discussion of the Self, Plumwood notes that the strategy aligns with a broader tradition in Western ethics which tends to value the universal over the particular as a route to sound ethical reasoning (1991). Moral progress is attained through a rational, detached, universalizing approach; by moving away from "the merely particular - my self, my family, my tribe" (Plumwood, 1991, p. 6). Subjectivity, personal attachments, particularity, intuition, and emotions are seen as potentially "corrupting, capricious, and self-interested" (Ibid.). Plumwood's ecofeminist analysis points out that this preference is gendered - detached rationality is associated with the masculine, while private and personal ties, embodied care practices, emotions, irrationality, and subjectivity are associated with the feminine - these normative associations are codified in the normative dualism framework described in Chapter 2. Moreover, this means that the partiality/ impartiality dualism is linked to other dualist hierarchical relations, including human/nature dualism and animate/inanimate dualism. Ecofeminists are suspicious of theories which reject some but not all dualisms, because, since all dualisms are interconnected through the normative dualist schema, rejecting one dualist set but not others renders the rejection incomplete.

Therefore, although the Self-realization strategy tries to dissolve human/nature dualism by grounding extension of moral concern to nonhumans in human identity, it does so by upholding other traditional dualisms strongly associated with the human/nature dichotomy. If this seems a minor point, Plumwood elsewhere notes the irony and "inconsistency of employing, in the service of constructing an allegedly biocentric ethical theory, a framework which has played such a major role in creating a dualistic account of the genuine human self as essentially rational, and discontinuous from the *merely* emotional, the *merely* bodily and the *merely* animal" (Plumwood, 1994, p. 168).

Furthermore, though well-intentioned, deep ecology's denial of difference also has problematic consequences. If others are "recognized morally only to the extent that they are incorporated into the self" (Plumwood, 1994, p. 180) and their difference and independence is denied, this amounts to a denial of their inherent worth (Katz et al., 2000). It also amounts to a concession that humans can only be expected to care about others if it is somehow self-serving, and that altruism and self-interest cannot coexist. In an effort to distance itself from altruism as grounds for consideration of the nonhuman world, which Naess considers an unreliable impetus (1986), it instead opts to expand the sphere of human self-interest and egoism. The construction of altruism or self-interest as two mutually exclusive options tacitly endorses yet another dualism: the self/other dualism. Escaping this dualism requires not an erasure of difference through the identification of oneself with everything else, but the recognition that 'individual' entities have different interests and needs, which can conflict, but are nevertheless inextricably linked and co-constitutive of each other. This critique will be further elaborated in Section 2 of the next chapter, where I will discuss how a virtue-based approach may offer viable alternative grounds for human identity.

As was argued in Chapter 2, the dualisms in the normative and ontological dualist frameworks are all interconnected and mutually reinforcing. Thus, a true rejection of human/ nature dualism also requires a rejection of the subject/object, animate/inanimate, and mind/ matter dichotomies. Deep ecology is, in this sense, insufficiently non-dualist, and insufficiently discontinuous from mainstream ethical approaches. It thus fails to yield adequate grounds for moral consideration of inanimate objects.

#### §3.3 - Conclusions

The main takeaway of this chapter is that holist and deep ecological views have some insights to offer, but nevertheless maintain dualist characteristics, which I identified in the introduction to this chapter as incompatible with moral considerability for inanimate matter. The insights to be gleaned from holism and deep ecology are the following. Where individualist theories obscure the significance of wholes or collectives, holist theories place primacy on them. This encourages us to acknowledge the significance of inanimate elements of the world: the functioning of biotic systems and the lives of their constituent parts depend on inanimate contributors. Nevertheless, holist theories do not provide satisfactory grounds for arguing that

inanimate matter has inherent worth - its worth is conditional upon its contribution to life supporting systems, or the survival of one single system, and is thus instrumental. They furthermore endorse ontological individualism, as they do not question the atomistic view of individuals, and shift their focus from individual living entities to collectives or wholes as the unit of primary moral importance. As such, holist theories are grounded in a number of dualisms, and exist within the bounds of a dualist ontological framework.

Deep ecology goes a step further than holist theories in rejecting the premises of individualist theories and the dualisms underlying them. It attempts to reject human exceptionalism and human/nature dualism by asserting the inherent worth of nonhuman entities and nature. It also advocates for an ontological reconceptualization of the human Self which centers relationality and interconnectedness, whereby it acknowledges that underlying ontological assumptions influence our way of relating to the world. This is an important takeaway: there is a relationship between humans' self-conception, and our mode of relating to the world. Despite its intentions, however, deep ecology remains life-centered and its Self-realization strategy maintains several dualisms. As argued by Plumwood (1994), the Self-realization strategy is grounded in a normative dualism which prioritizes impartiality over partiality, thereby also endorsing the rationalism borne of mind/matter dualism and related dualisms. Thus, both holist and deep ecological views' understandings of humans and nature are predicated upon normative and ontological dualisms.

# Chapter 4 - Alternative (Ontological) Frameworks

The foregoing chapters discussed traditional Western theories of moral status and whether they are able to accommodate moral consideration of the inanimate. I argued that they are unable to because they are grounded in dualistic ontological and normative frameworks which lead to particular perceptions of humans, matter, and the relationship between them. I have noted that while holist approaches and deep ecology, which are often offered as alternatives to the traditional views, do offer some valuable insights into the relevance of the inanimate in the interconnected systems living beings depend on, they are nevertheless based in the same ontological and normative dualist frameworks which subjugate matter in the first place. They are therefore ultimately unable to offer satisfactory grounds for moral consideration of the inanimate. The following chapter outlines how insights from new materialist, ecofeminist, and Indigenous scholarship can offer alternative ways to understand humans, matter, and their relationship. I will argue that new materialisms offer an alternative to ontological dualism, that insights from ecofeminist virtue ethics illustrate how we may reorient human identity around a non-dual normative framework, and that we may look to Indigenous scholarship and ontologies for guidance in applying these insights to our ethical behaviors. In the fifth and final chapter, I will discuss hoe these insights might change our perception of what is at stake in a particular case study.

#### <u>§4.1 - 'New' Materialism</u>

New materialism(s) emerged at the turn of the millennium, as part of the broader materialist or ontological turn seen in various disciplines, and in response to mounting critiques of "the foundational binaries of modern thought, especially the nature/culture, object/subject, human/ thing dualisms, whose anthropocentric biases are seen to have led to the current ecological and civilizational crises and the incapacity to think through and adequately engage with them" (Plate, 2020).

Given the relative newness of this field and the interdisciplinary nature of its emergence, it encompasses various different viewpoints, approaches, and debates. Despite their differences, new materialists tend to share a common motivation, namely problematizing the "perceived neglect or diminishment of matter in the dominant Euro-Western tradition as passive substance intrinsically devoid of meaning" (2019, p. 111). Given the diversity of new materialist viewpoints endorsing a particular stream is beyond the scope of this thesis, however I will discuss their general insights in order to demonstrate the potential that these alternative ontological approaches hold for a reconfiguration of our understandings of human identity and inanimate matter, and for the environmental ethical approaches we might build upon them.

Let us recall that Cartesian ontological dualism is underpinned by an epistemological theory which posits human subjects as external observers of the objective physical world. On this view, humans are able to observe objects and the broader world without affecting them, as if from outside. Furthermore, the observed objects are generally viewed as static, complete, and discrete: inert units which lack agency and do not change or interact with their environments of their own accord. An object, as put by Heidegger, "stands before us as a *fait* 

*accompli*, presenting its congealed, outer surfaces to our inspection. It is defined by its very 'over-againstness' in relation to the setting in which it is placed" (Heidegger, 1971, p. 167; qtd. Ingold, 2010, p. 4). Tim Ingold (2010) attempts to challenge this view of objects, inviting us to imagine a stone: Though we are wont to see a stone as an object in the sense just described, "it is only so if we artificially excise it from the process of erosion and deposition that brought it here and lent it the size and shape it presently has" (Ibid.). Though a stone does not move or change quickly, it is nevertheless constantly moving, changing, and 'leaking' into its environment. This constant leaking means that it cannot really be divorced from its surroundings and that its boundaries are dynamic and not absolute. Furthermore, it implies that the stone is constantly acting on, interacting with, and affecting its environment, albeit, perhaps, imperceptibly and very slowly. Ingold's aim in asserting this is to develop an "ontology that assigns primacy to *processes of formation* as against their final products, and to *flows and transformations of materials* as against ['final'] states of matter" (2010, pp. 2-3, emphasis added).

Karen Barad's work offers an even more radical departure from Descartes' ontology and epistemology (2007). Her 'agential realism' is borne of her reading of Niels Bohr's work on quantum physics, particularly with regards to the phenomenon that light appears either as a wave or as a particle depending on one's experimental arrangement (Gamble et al., 2010). On the basis of her reading of Bohr, Barad argues that matter is inherently *indeterminate*. That is, light and other material entities or assemblages of matter are relatively determinate in that they are fairly stable phenomena, but they nevertheless "[do] not entirely precede - and [are] not fully separable from - the physical, material apparatus used to observe [them]" (Ibid., p. 122). In contrast to the Cartesian view of the observing subject as fully removed from the passive objects she observes, Barad's onto-epistemology posits observation as an "intraactive" and reciprocal process, which influences the ontologies of both the observer and the observed. That is, observation plays a *constitutive* role, and "humans (like everything else) always partly constitute and *are partly constituted by* that which they observe" (Ibid., p. 123, emphasis added). When one observes light, one is, in fact, influencing, and thus coconstituting, its ontological form. This effect is mutual and reciprocal. Given that humans are part of the "larger material configuration of the world" (Barad, 2007, p. 342) they cannot be excised from the intra-action of matter. Thus, this onto-epistemological account of the world is thoroughly relational, in that even 'hands-off' observers cannot engage 'passive' objects

without affecting and being affected by them. Every interaction alters or co-constitutes the ontology of both (or all) entities involved.

Barad's view has a number of implications pertaining to the ontology of inanimate matter, the ontology of human beings, and the nature of agency. Regarding matter, Barad's view contrasts with what Gamble et al. describe as "the atomistic trend of treating matter as a passive entity that must be animated by something immaterial and outside the flux and movement of matter itself: force" (2010, p. 116). Instead, matter gains an agentive quality in that it is active, and effects changes in the other assemblages of matter it encounters. Furthermore, any property a being might have, including agency, never entirely precedes its interactions with other entities or things. At least a part of an entity's being is constituted and determined, in its entirety, through its very interactions. Agency, on this view, is something which intra-acting entities perform, engender, constitute, and are, through their intra-actions. In this sense, agency is performance or matter itself, and matter simply is what it does (Gamble et al., 2019; Barad, 2007; Coole, 2019). Regarding humans, this understanding of all material entities as fundamentally relational and intra-active reconfigures the human being as both subject and object, or, as Coole puts it, "as simultaneously touching and touched, the body is both an active, sentient existent and a passive, sensible object" (2017). The upshot of this kind of agential realism is thus that the ontological dichotomy between agentive human subject and passive material object is dissolved. Such materialist views also remove agency, or life, or will, from the domain of mental substance, and conceive of it as something that emerges from, or is enacted by the movements of matter itself.

Barad's view of agency is not the only one in the diverse field of new materialism. In general, Jovanović notes, "new materialisms are committed to a pluralization of agency" (2020, p. 248), seeking to disrupt the trend in modern Western thinking wherein agency has not just been conventionally understood as "a distinctive property of humans, but in many cases as the characteristic that defines them as a distinctive and privileged species thanks to their capacities for cognition and rationality (Coole, 2017). However, new materialists' approaches and definitions of agency vary. While Barad sees it as a performance, Ingold believes that the 'problem of agency' arises from a double-reduction "of things to objects and of life to agency" (Ingold, 2010, p. 12). That is, Ingold understands life not as a characteristic possessed by certain types of individual entities, but rather as a property inherent to the very flows of materials which constitute those entities, and within or between which they are

temporarily held in place (2010). Because objects, like the aforementioned stone, are constantly moving, life is located, according to Ingold, in the "irrepressible discharge of substance through the porous surfaces of emergent forms. ... Things are alive because they *leak*. Life... will not be contained, but inheres in the very circulation of materials that continually give rise to the forms of things even as they portend their dissolution" (Ibid.). Thus, on Ingold's view, 'objects' are seen as lacking agency simply because they have been "deadened or rendered inert by arresting the flows of substances that give them life" (Ibid.). Having arrested these flows, the only way we can conceive of matter as active is through the attribution of agency. However, if we take an ontological position which conceives of matter as inherently active, or 'alive,' there is no need to re-animate it.

Coole (2017) has yet another view on agency. She notes that "new materialists maintain that agency is distributed across a far greater range of entities than had formerly been imagined," but that the question remains what the nature of agency is, and exactly how widely it is distributed. In any event, new materialists' central intuition is that agency is corporeal, in that it can never be fully excised from the physical or corporeal contexts and processes that house and enable its emergence. She proposes two basic capacities that are involved in the possession or performance of agency: "the active potency or efficacy needed to bring about change" and "the reflexivity for these effects to matter to their perpetrator, thus endowing the latter with motivation to act" (2017). Since the basic criterion for these capacities is corporeality, agency can in principle be extended far wider than before; beyond humans and animals of similar cognition, to other physical entities. However, Coole herself is nevertheless hesitant to attribute agency to inanimate or inorganic things, because they lack the reflexivity that would motivate them to act. In other words, they lack interests, and "in remaining indifferent to the impact of their efficacy, they lack motivation to change themselves or the world in order to improve their life chances or wellbeing" (Ibid.). Coole's particular understanding of agency still requires potential agents to possess motivations, or interests, but she acknowledges that other theorists, like Bruno Latour and some vital materialists like Bennett (2010), do conceive of non-organic entities as potentially possessing agency.

Of course, these positions represent a radical departure from the norm, and given the relative novelty and interdisciplinary backgrounds of the various contributors to the field, the matter of agency requires further discussion. Nevertheless, these diverse viewpoints,

grounded in a shared political aim of disrupting the power structures associated with paradigmatic modern normative and ontological frameworks, demonstrate that alternative ontological approaches are up for consideration. Moreover, they demonstrate that matter may matter more than previously thought, and that acts upon us as much as we act upon it. On the basis of these alternative ontologies, we might be able to construct different environmental ethical approaches which account for a more reciprocal relationship with inanimate formations of matter.

Even so, one might question whether this would really lead to radically different ethics. If we did eventually reach a consensus that matter is agentive, intra-active, and responsive, it would still presumably lack interests, preferences, or the ability to suffer harm. As such, any change on their part would be morally neutral for them. I will return to this matter in Section 4.3, where I will discuss insights from Indigenous scholarship. Before doing so, however, I will note that even without conceiving of matter as agentive and able to suffer, the new materialist shift in understanding of humans and matter could lead to a profound change in the way we interact with the world. Seeing humans as fundamentally material; understanding mind, consciousness, and agency as inherently and necessarily corporeal; and seeing matter as inherently active rather than a passive, inert subject of human will and external forces, already engenders a radical departure from the common current worldview.

A greater attentiveness to the prolificacy of nonhuman actors "operating outside and inside the human body" (Bennett, 2010) could disrupt the sense one might have, when alone in a room of objects, that one is surrounded by a static and lifeless environment; in leading us to cultivate greater awareness of, and respect for "nonhuman otherness and agency" (Coole, 2017), new questions about the possible activities and effects of the objects, or dynamic assemblages of matter, around us might arise. In turn, this might lead us to develop a more 'ecological sensibility,' or an awareness that our actions have short- and far-reaching consequences, on both a temporal and spatial scale, which we are presently not attuned to.

Our current way of being in the world, by contrast, appears influenced by the impression that our actions, like patterns of consumption and production, are somehow isolated from broader chains of inter- and intra-action, and mostly involve passive objects. As Plumwood put it, the "message of continuity and dependency is so revolutionary in the context of the modern world [because] the dominant strands of western culture have for so long denied it, and have given us a model of human identity and only minimally and

accidentally connected to the earth" (1994, p. 6). Though it may be difficult at this point to fully imagine the implications that such a (relatively conservative) shift of ontological foundations might have for our ethics, it is nevertheless a massive departure from our current understanding of humans, nonhumans, and their relationship. If we are no longer the sole subjects in a world of objects (and slightly less subjective subjects, like nonhuman animals), this already significantly disrupts the normative dualist schema which underlies the modern worldview, and challenges significant elements of Plumwood's 'master identity,' mentioned in Chapter 2.

The need for such a shift in perception is highlighted by the increasingly emergent fact that we live in the Anthropocene, "an era in which humans' manipulation of matter is imprinted in the very geological fabric of the earth" (Coole, 2017). A more profound recognition of the profoundly relational and impactful interactions of living and non-living assemblages of matter, which affect involved actors' ontology and actively constitute their capacity for agency moment to moment, may lead us to think more proactively in our assessments of, say, mining projects or other activities. A more acute sense of flows of materials may allow us to better appreciate and anticipate things like the proliferation of micro-plastics or 'forever chemicals' (Salvidge & Hosea, 2023), which infiltrate ecosystems and food chains when we wash clothes made of synthetic materials, or use certain kinds of products. "From this perspective," Coole notes, "the materialist turn is responding to an urgent need for the social sciences to direct their critical attention to imminent threats to life itself." (2017).

#### §4.2 - Virtue Ethics as an Alternative to 'Self-realization'

As noted in Chapter 3, deep ecologists also believe that an ontological reorientation is vital for developing a different relationship with the natural environment. For them, this reorientation should center around humans' self-perception; they urge us to develop an ecological Self which expands the sphere of self-interest to include the rest of the natural world. Plumwood has argued that the Self-realization strategy nevertheless fails to reject other dualisms which underlie the human/nature dualism deep ecology seeks to subvert. As an alternative, she suggests a "virtuebased way to conceive the ecological self and ecological sensibility" whereby we might ground "identity in an environmental ethics of care" (Plumwood, 1994, p. 166). In other words, she rejects the idea of an ecological Self based in

an expansion of self-interest and a rejection of partiality, bioregional ties, and embeddedness in interpersonal relations. Instead she advocates for a relational conception of the human self, which recognizes the vital role personal attachments and moral feelings like empathy and care play in (human) animals' actual moral lives (Ibid., pp. 180-185), and on the basis of which virtues rooted in one's particular relationships and roles can be articulated.

One merit of this approach is that it avoids the normative dualisms borne of mind/ matter dualism, which are associated with traditional ethical approaches and which deep ecologists allegedly fail to fully reject. Blum (1980), Gilligan (1982, 1987) and other feminist ethicists have argued that instinctual, emotional, and body-based desires to care for others tend, in traditional ethical theories, to be dismissed as not truly moral impulses. They are considered instinctual and emotional, rather than being consciously and willfully chosen, and are thus treated as almost morally irrelevant, or even corrupting (Plumwood, 1991; Taylor, 1986). Virtue-based approaches, however, hold that such embodied, emotional elements are essential components of our moral lives (Plumwood, 1991). In this sense, a virtue-ethical approach rejects the normative judgement attached to mind/body dualism where deep ecologists do not, by subverting the normative valuation of the mind over the body as a source of ethical impetus.

This virtue-based approach is also more compatible with new materialist ontologies than the deep ecological Self, in that it avoids the denial of difference mentioned in Chapter 3, as well as dichotomization of self and other, and of altruism and self-interest. Let us recall that Naess wants to ground care for others in the expanded Self because he finds altruism an unsatisfactory moral impetus. That is, according to him, "everything that can be achieved by altruism - the *dutiful, moral* consideration for others - can be achieved, and much more, by the process of widening and deepening ourselves" (1986, 226). This position is based in a dichotomization of altruism and self-interest, and it is unsurprising that feminist ethicists would regard such a move with suspicion; since care work tends to be gendered, feminist ethicists are cognizant of the inextricability of altruism and self-interest, both in care work and interpersonal relations (which, again, tend to overlap in women's personal lives more frequently than in men's, given gendered divisions of care work). This false altruism/egoism dichotomy, as well as a binary view of self and other, underlies Naess's view that expanding one's self to identify with all others - a move which is predicated upon a denial of difference or separateness - is the way to go in environmental ethics. It also implies ontological

38

individualism: the self is discrete and bounded, whether defined in a narrow 'egotistical' way, or on an almost global or even cosmic scale.

On the virtue-ethical view, however, self-interest and altruism are not dualised, and neither are self and other, or independence and interdependence. This corresponds with the non-dual foundation of new materialism, wherein the dichotomy between self and other is erased, while the temporary boundedness is nevertheless maintained. That is, new materialists view forms or states of matter as temporary configurations of moving materials, always in flux, but nevertheless temporarily bounded. In Coole's words, "while entities or assemblages may be unstable and complex, they do have recognizable boundaries. It is just that they are porous, permeable, and enmeshed with other systems" (2017). Thus, rather than depending on an expansion of Self, a virtue ethical approach can accommodate the interconnection between entities while recognizing their relative separateness, and can understand these relations as being simultaneously altruistic and self-serving. Thus, human selfhood can be grounded in a relational, ecological identity, while avoiding normative dualistic logic, erasure of difference, and ontological atomism. These considerations are relevant to the moral standing of inanimate objects and matter because these normative dualisms are precisely what underlie the rationalist notion of human exceptionality, and the subordination of the body, matter and nonhuman nature, but also because, as we shall see in the following section, virtue-based and relational ethics become particularly relevant in contexts where numerous nonhuman others are conceived of as agentive moral interlocutors.

### §4.3 - Indigenous Perspectives

In Section 4.1 I noted that one might question whether the ontological shift prescribed by new materialists would really have any ethical implications for treatment of the inanimate. That is, even if we conceive of matter as agentive and active, the question remains what this ought to mean given that inanimate objects and matter cannot feel pain, suffer harm, or possess interests. It is here that Indigenous scholarship has considerable insights to offer, since, Rosiek et al. note, "an ontology that includes nonhuman agency as well as a conception of ethics including more than human-to-human relations has long been a starting point for analysis" within Indigenous studies (2019, p. 332; Deloria, 1988; Todd, 2014).

While Indigenous people's views tend to be understood as 'animist' (Warren, 1997) - a worldview largely dismissed by Western academia and culture as "a simple religion and failed epistemology" and ontology (Bird-David, 1999, p. 67) - it is becoming increasingly clear, especially to scholars interested in new materialism, agential realism, and other relational ontologies, that Indigenous worldviews actually represent a variety of agent ontologies which parallel emergent Western new materialisms and comprise an "Indigenous tradition of thought which vastly predates the emergence of new materialism philosophies of science" (Rosiek et al., 2019, p. 333). While those operating within the Western canon are at pains to theorize or justify non-human agency and create a new vocabulary in order to critique dominant Western ontologies and logics from within (Jones & Kawehan Hoskins, 2016), Indigenous peoples' vocabularies and concepts are already rooted in the notion of "pervasive non-human agency" (Rosiek et al., p. 336). Thus, while "there has been little exploration in the new materialist social science literature of what specific performances of an ethical reciprocity with nonhuman agents would look like" (Ibid.), Indigenous scholarship on this subject has been working out exactly how these ontological understandings ought to be translated into daily ethical practice.

A problem, however, is that the two 'fields' are rooted in distinctive philosophical backgrounds, making insights difficult to share directly. An example of this discord is that the notion of non-human agency is rarely introduced as a general concept in the literature because it is generally taken as a given (Ibid., p. 337), and, moreover, Indigenous theory tends to prioritize "the performative establishment of particular relational entanglements with non-human agents over seeking generalizable understanding of that agency" (Ibid., p. 339). There is a resistance to abstraction, universalization, and objectification, precisely because the agency, life, and other properties are seen as emerging out of particular circumstances (Deloria, 1999). As Watts (2013) notes, "it is not that Indigenous peoples do not theorize, but that these complex theories are not distinct from place" (p. 22). It is thus not a question of establishing how we should relate to *all* non-human agents, but rather what matters is "the particular relationship you have with a particular tree or a particular mountain" (Deloria 1999, p. 223).

Indigenous agent ontologies and ethics are not, of course, a monolith. But a recurring theme in Indigenous studies literature is one of relations between both human and non-human agents being framed in terms of ethical reciprocity, understood as "a practice of attending to the way our existence is interdependent with networks of relations" and "of considering consequences of our actions" for the communities in which we are embedded, and "on which our being depends" (Rosiek et al., 2019, p. 340; Reddekop 2014). Such a reciprocal attitude is contrasted with an extractive way of being in a world, which a view of the world as an inert bank of natural resources may encourage (Simpson, 2017). Here virtue ethics reemerges as a promising theoretical path, given that, on a virtue ethical account, one's moral obligations and responsibilities are "based on a set of commitments inherent in a particular type of identity" (McIntyre 1982; Poole 1991; qtd. Plumwood, 1994, p. 185), which is, on a new materialist or agentive ontological account, constituted through one's very interactions and relationships with others.

Reddekop (2014) provides an example from the Tlingit people of the North Pacific Coastal region of America. He notes that in the Tlingit worldview, existing in a particular environment and "subsisting on the land - gathering, fishing, responding to its changing rhythms, taking care of it - ... performs and lives-out what it means to be a respectful relative in an extended community of human and non-human persons" (2014, p.143, emphasis added). Interaction with the environment is viewed in terms of what it means to be a respectful, virtuous ethical agent and interlocutor, who contributes to the functioning of the whole with care and attention. This relational approach conceives of ethics as centered on reciprocal engagement which sustains mutual benefit and wellbeing, both on an interpersonal and a systemic level. Here we also see that a virtue based relational approach allows us to retain difference while also emphasizing connection and interdependence in a way that deep ecology failed to do. When we are in relationship with others, our distinctness and positionality factor into the ethical and care demands we are subject to. It is not merely about looking out for one's own interests and avoiding impinging on others' rights, or about negating and dissolving self into other to expand the locus of self interest. It is about being a responsible and virtuous agent in relation to others who are, like the agent, constituted by and embedded in communities, networks, and relationships. Thus, a relational and virtue based approach makes sense of the role of affect, and avoids grounding moral obligations in a depersonalized and detached framework.

If one understands the world as consisting, in its material entirety, of agentive, living entities, this produces a view of the one's every movement in the world as inherently intraactive, relational, and reciprocal. Every "action, behavior, and belief," Deloria writes (1999), takes on a relational, and thus a personal and ethical dimension. Whether or not an individual object one encounters possesses interests or preferences becomes less relevant when the boundaries between everything are less stark and discrete than on the atomistic understanding of the world. What relationality means, here, is that no action can be divorced from the greater environment. My exploration of practical Indigenous ethical frameworks must remain limited, due to the scope of this thesis and because Indigenous agentive ontologies and ethical frameworks are as numerous as Indigenous peoples themselves. Nevertheless, I hope to have given some indication of the way in which an agentive or new materialist ontology might influence the way we interact with our material environments. Furthermore, I note that there remains relatively little engagement between Indigenous and Western (new materialist) literatures, and the vocabularies and underlying conceptual frameworks of these fields remain vastly different. As such, I stress the need for further engagement with Indigenous scholarship on this subject, and identify this as a promising and important area for future research.

# Chapter 5 - A Case Study: Juukan Gorge

The insights from new materialism, ecofeminism, and Indigenous philosophy presented in the previous chapter can hopefully contribute to a richer view of what is at stake in our interactions with inanimate natural bodies and systems. This short final chapter attempts to illustrate this through a case study, namely the case of the Juukan Gorge cave system in Pilbara, Western Australia, which was the center of a scandal when it was destroyed by mining giant Rio Tinto in May 2020 (Langton & Godden, 2020).

Juukan Gorge is a site of significant archaeological and cultural importance. Before its destruction, the cave systems contained evidence of continuous human occupation dating back 46,000 years, making it one of the oldest continually inhabited sites in Australia, and possibly the world (Langton & Godden, 2020). The Juukan Gorge is also a sacred site for the Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura (PKKP) Peoples, who have inhabited that region of Pilbara for centuries. For example, DNA testing demonstrated that a braided belt made of human hair found in the caves was 4,000 years old, and made of hair from various individuals who genetically matched present day PKKP people. In May 2020, mining giant Rio Tinto blew the cave system up with dynamite as part of an iron ore exploration project.

The outrage and news coverage surrounding the incident, as is usually the case when sacred Indigenous or ethnographic sites are defaced, was generally framed in anthropocentric terms. The caves themselves, it is presumed, suffered no moral injury because they are inanimate. The moral dimensions of the problem pertain to the humans involved: The destruction of the caves was a breathtaking example of corporate irresponsibility and legislative failure. It amounted to a continuation of colonial discrimination and disenfranchisement of Australian Aboriginal peoples. It was an affront to humans generally, as this significant archaeological site was a part of global historic and cultural patrimony. And, most especially, it was an affront to the Aboriginal tribes for whom the site is sacred. The standard Western framing of the moral dimensions of the destruction differ, however, from the PKKP Peoples' perception of the events.

According to the PKKP Aboriginal Corporation, which represents the PKKP peoples and administers their traditional lands and waters, the effect of the destruction of spiritual sites like Juukan Gorge can be described in the following terms:

".. the people, the ancestral spirits, the land and everything on it are 'organic parts of one dissoluble whole'; the effects [of the destruction of sites] on the sense of connection are not to be understood as referable to individual blocks of land but understood by the 'pervasiveness of Dreaming'; the effects are upon an Aboriginal person's feelings, in the sense of his or her engagement with the Dreamings; an act can have an adverse effect by physically damaging a sacred site, but it can also affect a person's perception of an engagement with the Dreamings because the Dreamings are not site specific but run through a larger area of the land; and as a person's connection with country carries with it an obligation to care for it, there is a resulting sense of failed responsibility when it is damaged or affected in a way which cuts through the Dreamings."" (As described by the High Court of Australia in Northern Territory v Griffith (2019) HCA 7 at [206]) (Shanafelt Wong, 2022).

This describes the specific effects of destruction of sacred sites for an Aboriginal *person*, but it is full of inferences to the more-than-human. People are intertwined and in relation with "ancestral spirits, the land and *everything on it*", all of which are connected through the Dreamings - the cosmological origin story which itself is seen as an agentive being, and which records the history, the present, and the future of the particular Country, which can be understood, in shorthand, as the 'sentient land' (Moreton-Robinson, 2020). Moreton-Robinson writes that Aboriginal people's "sense of belonging is derived from an ontological relationship to country derived from Dreaming" (2020). Thus, the destruction of the caves, for the PKKP Peoples, was not just an affront to their historical patrimony and their rights to manage their ancestral lands or have their particular religious or spiritual beliefs respected. It was something much deeper. It was an affront to the very land which the Dreaming instructs them to protect, and to all the creatures, objects, people, and spirits which pertain to it. Moreover, it "cuts through" the very Dreamings, thereby disrupting, on an ontological level, a fundamental aspect of the ontology and identity of Aboriginal peoples and all other members of the land.

To most non-Aboriginals, this narrative is difficult to grasp. Or, it appears grounded in cultural beliefs which are to be respected, but seem at odds with a scientific appraisal of objective reality. The notion of Dreaming, or of sentient land to which one has direct obligations, seems 'animistic,' mythological, and spiritual. On the basis of an ontological reorientation like the one described in the foregoing chapters, however, one might see how the Aboriginal experience of the destruction of the Juukan Gorge may be expressed in terms more familiar to or consistent with Western philosophy. A different ontological starting point thus illuminates a different view of what was morally at issue in this situation. The harm done was relational, in that it affected the very landscape through which the PKKP peoples and their human and nonhuman relatives, from the past, present and future, are mutually constituted. The cave can be understood as an agentive being whose existence was an integral part of the identity of the Country, and who directly influenced the Dreaming which connects and shapes the identities of members of the community. Failure to protect the landscape was, furthermore, experienced as a "sense of failed responsibility," since one's connection to the land also involves a responsibility to care for it.

An ontological reorientation of both human identity and matter, wherein identity, life, agency, and material place are understood as mutually co-constitutive and existing in a reciprocal relationship with each other, reveals moral dimensions of something like the destruction of the Juukan Gorge which are not usually apparent to the Western observer. It is not merely an (anthropocentric) matter of sentiment, or rights to cultural and religious self-determination, but rather a matter of identity. And, perhaps, developing such an attunement to place and matter in Western contexts would radically change the way we structure our daily lives, construct our houses, consume products, and otherwise understand and interact with the world around us.

### Conclusion

This thesis examined the question how we should understand our moral relationship with inanimate objects and matter. I sought to defend four claims. First, that traditional Western environmental ethical theories are based upon normative and ontological dualism, which leads us to conceive of inanimate matter as lacking inherent worth. Second, that this disregard for matter negatively influences our ecological behaviors. Third, that common alternatives to the traditional ethical approaches, namely holist views and deep ecology, challenge some of the traditional theories' main assumptions but nevertheless fail to depart their underlying dualisms. Fourth, that new materialist, ecofeminist, and Indigenous scholarship can offer insights which might enable us to conceive of inanimate matter as mattering inherently.

To make these claims I first outlined traditional Western theories of moral status and environmental ethics, namely individualist utilitarian and deontological views, which can be categorized as either sentience- or life-based, and hierarchical or egalitarian, and argued that none of these enable a view of inanimate objects and matter as possessing inherent worth. In Chapter 2, I drew on Kureethadam's analysis of Descartes' influence on the modern worldview, and argued that the traditional ethical approaches discussed in Chapter 1 are predicated upon lingering Cartesian substance dualism and a broader schema of normative dualisms. In Chapter 3, I considered whether commonly discussed alternatives to the standard Western ethical theories, namely holist and deep ecological views, can provide grounds for moral consideration of inanimate objects. Although both schools reject certain dualisms, and although deep ecology has an explicitly ontological orientation, I concluded that they do not depart sufficiently from the dualisms which underlie the common view of matter as morally dead. I argued that an environmental ethic wanting to conceive of matter as morally considerable ultimately requires a non-dual understanding of human identity, and of the physical world. In Chapter 4 I discussed how insights from 'new' materialisms, ecofeminism, and Indigenous scholarship can contribute to an alternative understanding of humans and nonhuman matter, which departs from the ontological and normative dualisms problematized in Chapters 2 and 3. In particular, I discussed 'new' materialisms proposed by Barad (2007), Ingold (2010) and Coole (2017). I noted that, given the relative newness of the field, significant debates - particularly on the nature of agency understood as a corporeal, material phenomenon - still need resolving. Nevertheless, I argued, the field of new materialism

demonstrates that alternative ontological frameworks are emerging out of a dissatisfaction with the limits of current ontological, political, and ethical frameworks, and that they may inspire radically different ways of seeing, being in, and relating to the material world. I also discussed a virtue-based account of human identity, proposed by Plumwood as an alternative to the deep ecological conception of Self, and argued that it is compatible with a relational, new materialist ontology like Barad's 'agentive realism' (2007).

I noted the potential concern that even if one conceives of inanimate objects or matter as possessing agency, the ethical significance of such a move remains unclear since objects would still lack interests, sentience, or a preference for certain states of being over others. Although a clear answer to this concern is beyond the scope of this thesis, and possibly even beyond the current insights of Western academia, I noted that an ontological reorientation of humans, matter, and their inextricable relationality already represents a significant departure from the current status quo. A greater attentiveness to relationality and matter's reciprocal activity may inspire a firmer appreciation of the web of relations within which we exist, and thus a greater attunement to the consequences of our interactions with the material and natural world. I furthermore noted that Indigenous scholarship may offer valuable insights in this regard because it presents a rich tradition of agentive ontologies, and that Indigenous lifeways exemplify how these agent ontologies may be put into practice through coherent, relational ethical approaches grounded in reciprocal relationships with nonhuman moral interlocutors. Finally, I discussed how these insights might change our understanding of what is at stake in situations like the destruction of the Juukan Gorge, a site of significant spiritual and cultural importance to the Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura Peoples of Pilbara, Western Australia.

Ultimately, the answer to the question how we should understand our moral relationship with inanimate natural object remains unanswered. However, my aim has been to demonstrate that seeking an answer to this question ought to involve a critical reappraisal of the ontological frameworks which delineate the logical limits of the ethical theories built upon them. I suggest, however, that a more relational understanding of human interactions with the natural world, as well as a more corporeal or material basis for human identity, and a more active and agentive notion of matter, may contribute to a more ecologically responsible way of existing in the world. A provisional answer, then, is that we should consider our relationship to inanimate others as yet undefined, but morally significant.

In light of this, I suggest that cross-cultural engagement with Indigenous scholarship is an important area for future ethical inquiry. Such engagement could enrich further development of 'new' materialisms and research into how agentive ontologies may be translated into environmental ethics philosophies. Another important area for research relates to the nature of material, nonhuman agency; whether it indeed exists, and how much further beyond humans and similar entities it can be extended. Finally, the question of what the implications such agency might be for our moral obligations to the inanimate objects and assemblages in our immediate surroundings, and on a more global scale, is an intriguing area for future research.

## Bibliography

Asch, S. (2009). *Relational Ontology: An Exploration through the Work of M. Foucault* [Master's Thesis, University of Victoria]. <u>dspace.library.uvic.ca:8080/bitstream/handle/</u> <u>1828/1610/S\_ASCH-FINAL-COMPLETE.pdf?sequence=1</u>

Arola, T., Aulake, M., Ott, A., Lindholm, M., Kouvonen, P., Virtanen, P., Paloniemi, R. (2023). The impacts of nature connectedness on children's well-being: Systematic literature review. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *85*. ISSN 0272-4944, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2022.101913</u>

Baard, P. (2015). Managing Climate Change: A View from Deep Ecology. *Ethics and the Environment, 20*(1) 23-44. Indiana University Press.

Barad, K. (2003). Posthumanist performativity: Toward an Understanding of How Matter Comes to Matter. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society 28*(3), 801–831. <u>https://</u> <u>doi.org/10.1086/345321</u>

Barad, K. (2007). Meeting the universe halfway: Quantum physics and the entanglement of matter and meaning. Duke University Press.

Bennett, J. (2010). *Vibrant matter: a political ecology of things*. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1177/0090591703260853

Birch, T. H. (1993). Moral considerability and universal consideration. *Environmental ethics*, *15*(4), 313-332.

Bird-David, N. (1999). "Animism" Revisited: Personhood, Environment, and Relational Epistemology. *Current Anthropology, 40*(Supplement), S67-S91.

Blum, Lawrence A. (1980). Friendship, altruism and morality. Boston and London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Conty, A. F. (2018). The politics of nature: New materialist responses to the Anthropocene. *Theory, culture & society*, *35*(7-8), 73-96.

Coole, D. (2017) New Materialism: The Ontology and Politics of Materialisation. In Witzgall,
S. & Stakemeier, K. (Eds.) *Power of Material/Politics of Materiality*. Zurich: Diaphanes. 24 41. https://www.diaphanes.com/titel/new-materialism-3061

Cottingham, J. & Descartes, R. (1986). Descartes. Basil Blackwell.

DeGrazia, D. (2021). Sentience and Consciousness as Bases for Attributing Interests and Moral Status: Considering the Evidence and Speculating Slightly Beyond. In L. S. M. Johnson et al. (Eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals. Advances in Neuroethics* (pp. 17-33). Springer Nature.

DeGrazia, D., & Millum, J. (2021). Moral Status. *A Theory of Bioethics* (pp. 175-213). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Deleuze, G. & Guattari, F. (2004). *A thousand plateaus* (B. Massumi, Trans.). London: Continuum.

Deloria, V. (1988). *Custer died for your sins: An Indian manifesto*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.

Deloria, V. (1999). *Spirit and reason: The Vine Deloria, Jr., reader*. Golden, CO: Fulcrum.

Foucault, M. (1984). What Is Enlightenment? In Rabinow, P. (Ed.), *The Foucault Reader* (pp. 32-50). New York: Pantheon Books. <u>https://foucault.info/documents/</u> foucault.whatIsEnlightenment.en/

Fox, W. (1990a). On the Interpretation of Naess's Central Term" Self-Realization". *The Trumpeter Journal of Ecosophy*, 7(2), 98-101.

Fox, W. (1990b). *Toward a transpersonal ecology: Developing new foundations for environmentalism*. Shambhala, Boston.

Gamble, C., Hanan, J. S., Nail, T. (2019). What Is New Materialism? *Angelaki*, *24*(6), 111-134. DOI: <u>10.1080/0969725X.2019.1684704</u>

Gayle, D. (2022). Just Stop Oil activists throw soup at Van Gogh's sunflowers. (14 October 2022). *The Guardian*. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2022/oct/14/just-stop-oil-activists-throw-soup-at-van-goghs-sunflowers</u>

Gell, A. (1998). Art and agency. Oxford: Clarendon.

Gilligan, C. (1982). In a different voice. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Gilligan, C. (1987). Moral orientation and moral development. In (Kittay, E. Meyers, D. (Eds.) *Women and moral theory*. 19-33. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman and Allenheld.

19-33. E. Kittay and D. Meyers, ed

Harvey, G. (2006). Animals, animists, and academics. *Zygon*®, *41*(1), 9–20. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1111/j.1467-9744.2006.00723.x

Heidegger, M. (1971). *Poetry, language, thought*, (A. Hofstadter, Trans.). New York: Harper & Row.

Heidegger, M. (1966). *Discourse on Thinking*. (Anderson, J. M. Trans.) Freund, H. (Ed.). New York: Harper & Row, 1966.

Heidegger, M. (1977). *The Age of the World Picture*. In (Lovitt, W. Trans.) *The Question Concerning Technology and Other Essays*. New York: Harper & Row, 1977, pp. 115-136.

Horkheimer, M., Adorno, T. W., & Schmid Noerr, G. (2002). *Dialectic of enlightenment : philosophical fragments* (Ser. Cultural memory in the present). Stanford University Press.

Ingold, T. (2010). *Bringing things to life: Creative Entanglements in a World of Materials*. <u>https://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/id/eprint/1306/1/0510\_creative\_entanglements.pdf</u>

IPCC. (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A., Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/97810093258. <u>https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg2/</u> IPCC\_AR6\_WGII\_FullReport.pdf

Jones, A., & Hoskins, T. K. (2016). A mark on paper: The matter of indigenous settler history. In C. Taylor & C. Hughes (Eds.), *Posthuman research practices in education*, pp. 75-92. London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.

Jovanović, G. (2021). New Materalism, Technophilia and Emancipation. *International Review* of *Theoretical Psychologies 1*(1), 245-262. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7146/irtp.v1i1.127091</u>

Katz, E., Light, A. & Rothenberg, D. (2000). *Beneath the surface: critical essays in the philosophy of deep ecology.* Cambridge, Mass. MIT Press.

KRO-NCRV (15 January 2023). Pointer Regio: Rechten Voorde de Wadden. <u>https://</u> www.nporadio1.nl/fragmenten/pointer/03672768-d3e5-4ff9-a9c3-221175ec0b6a/2023-01-13pointer-regio-rechten-voor-de-wadden

Kohn, M. & O'Neill, D. (2006). A Tale of Two Indias: Burke and Mill on Racism and Slavery in the West Indies. *Political Theory*, *34*, 192–228.

Kohn, M. & Reddy, K. (2022). Colonialism. In E. Z. Salta (Ed.) *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Summer 2022 Edition)*. <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/sum2022/entries/</u>colonialism/

Kureethadam, J. I. (2017). *The Philosophical Roots of the Ecological Crisis: Descartes and the Modern Worldview*. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Langton, AM M., & Godden, L. (2020). Perspectives on the destruction of Juukan Gorge. Retrieved February 27th at <u>https://sustainable.unimelb.edu.au/news/juukan-gorge</u>

Leiss, W. (1972). The Domination of Nature. New York: George Braziller.

Leopold, A. (1949). A sand county almanac (outdoor essays & reflections). *Ballantine (reprint 1966 and 1990)*.

MacIntyre, A. C. (1982). After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theology. Duckworth.

Mathews, F. (2017). The Dilemma of Dualism. In MacGregor, S. (Ed.), Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment. New York, Routledge. <u>https://www.routledgehandbooks.com/</u> <u>doi/10.4324/9781315886572.ch3</u> McCarthy, T. (2009). Race, Empire, and the Idea of Human Development. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Moreton-Robinson, A. (2020). "Our story is in the land": Why the Indigenous sense of belonging unsettles white Australia. *ABC Religion & Ethics*. (9 November 2020). https://www.abc.net.au/religion/our-story-is-in-the-land-indigenous-sense-of-belonging/ 11159992

Naess, A. (1980). Environmental Ethics and Spinoza's Ethics. Inquiry, 23, 313-325.

Naess, A. & Sessions, G. (1984). The Basic Principles of Deep Ecology. https:// www.uwosh.edu/facstaff/barnhill/ES-243/pp outline Deep Ecology.pdf

Naess, A. (1986). Self-realization: An Ecological Approach to Being in the World. Reprinted in Sessions, G. (Ed.) *Deep Ecology for the Twenty-First Century* 1995, 225-239. Boston: Shambhala Publication

Naess, A. (1995). Self-realization. An ecological approach to being in the world. In G. Sessions (Ed.), *Deep Ecology for the Twenty-First Century*. Boston and London (Shambhala) pp. 225-239.

Naess, A. (2005). Spinoza and attitudes toward nature. *The Selected Works of Arne Naess*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Palmer, C. (2005). *IPP 503: Environmental Ethics: Week 5: The moral considerability of the non-human world*. Lancaster University. <u>https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/users/philosophy/</u> awaymave/403new/wk5.html

Palmer, C. (2005). *IPP 503: Environmental Ethics: Environmental Ethics, Holism and Animal Ethics.* Lancaster University. <u>https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/users/philosophy/awaymave/403new/wk6.htm</u>

Paske, G. (1989). The Life Principle: a (metaethical) rejection. *Journal of Applied Philosophy*, 6(2), 219-225. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/24353389</u>

Plant, J. Macy, J. (1989). Awakening to the Ecological Self. In *Healing the Wounds: The Promise of Ecofeminism*. New Society Publishers: Philadelphia, PA.Poole, R. (1991). *Morality and Modernity*. Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Plate, L. (2020). New Materialisms. <u>https://oxfordre.com/literature/display/10.1093/acrefore/</u> 9780190201098.001.0001/acrefore-9780190201098-e-1013

Plumwood, V. (1991). Nature, Self, and Gender: Feminism, Environmental Philosophy, and the Critique of Rationalism. *Hypatia*, *6*(1), 3-27.

Plumwood, Val. (1994). *Feminism and the Mastery of Nature*. Taylor & Francis Group, 1994. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/uunl/detail.action?docID=168813.

Reddekop, J. (2014). *Thinking Across Worlds: Indigenous Thought, Relational Ontology, and the Politics of Nature; Or, If Only Nietzsche Could Meet A Yachaj* [Doctoral thesis, The University of Western Ontario]. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 2082. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/2082</u>

Regan, T. (1984). The case for animal rights. In *Advances in animal welfare science 1986/87* (pp. 179-189). Springer, Dordrecht.

Robinson, H. (2023). Dualism. In E. N. Zalta & Nodelman, U. (Eds.) *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Spring 2023 Edition)*. <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/spr2023/entries/</u><u>dualism/</u>

Rolston, H. (1988). *Environmental Ethics: Duties to and Values in the Natural World*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press. Roothaan, A. (2019). Indigenous, Modern and Postcolonial Relations to Nature: Negotiating the Environment. Routledge.

Rosiek, J.L., Snyder, J., & Pratt, S. L. (2019). The New Materialisms and Indigenous Theories of Non-Human Agency: Making the Case for Respectful Anti-Colonial Engagement. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *26*(3-4), 331-346. DOI: IO.117/1077800419830135

Salvidge, R. & Hosea, L. (2023). Revealed: scale of 'forever chemical' pollution across UK and Europe. *The Guardian*. (23 February 2023). <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/</u>2023/feb/23/revealed-scale-of-forever-chemical-pollution-across-uk-and-europe

Santas, A. (1999). Subject/Object Dualism and Environmental Degradation. *Philosophical Inquiry*, *21*(3), 79-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.5840/philinquiry1999213/415</u>

Saxena, A. K. et al. (2018). From Moral Ecology to Diverse Ontologies: Relational Values in Human Ecological Research, Past and Present. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 35,* 54-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.10.021</u>

Shanafelt Wong, C. (2022). *Juukan Gorge*. Sacred Land Film Project. (21 September 2022). https://sacredland.org/juukan-gorge/

Simard, S. (2021). Finding the mother tree: uncovering the wisdom and intelligence of the forest. Penguin UK.

Simon, J.P. (2011). For the Sake of a Stone? Inanimate Things and the Demands of Morality. *Inquiry*, *54*(4), 384-397. DOI: <u>10.1080/0020174X.2011.592343</u>

Simpson, L. B. (2017). *As we have always done: Indigenous free- dom through radical resistance*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

Singer, P. (1979). Practical ethics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Pres

Smith, W., Gough, A. (2015). Deep Ecology as a Framework for Student Eco-Philosophical Thinking. *Journal of Philosophy in Schools*, *2*(1), 38-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.21913/jps.v2i1.1101</u>.

Smith, D., Protevi, J., & Voss, D. (2022). Gilles Deleuze. In Zalta E. N. (Ed.) *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Summer 2022 Edition)*. <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/</u> <u>sum2022/entries/deleuze</u>

Speerstra, R. J. (10 January 2023). *Waddenzee krijgt geen rechten van minister: 'Zou symbolisch zijn en niets toevoegen aan huidige bescherming'*. Leeuwarden Courant. <u>https://lc.nl/friesland/Waddenzee-krijgt-geen-rechten-Voegt-niets-toe-aan-bescherming-28158384.html</u>

Taylor, P. (1986). Respect for nature. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Taylor, P. (2011). *Respect for Nature: A Theory of Environmental Ethics*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Tănăsescu, M. (2020). Rights of Nature, Legal Personality, and Indigenous Philosophies. *Transnational Environmental Law*, 9(3), 429–453. <u>http://doi.org/10.1017/</u> <u>S2047102520000217</u>

Todd, Z. (2014). Fish pluralities: Human-animal relations and sites of engagement in Paulatuuq, Arctic Canada. Etudes/ Inuit/Studies, 38, 217-238.

University of Pennsylvania. (2021). *Statement on Anthropology, Colonialism, and Racism*. <u>https://anthropology.sas.upenn.edu/news/2021/04/28/statement-anthropology-colonialism-and-racism</u>

Van Esterik, P. (2022). Anthropology. *Britannica*. <u>https://www.britannica.com/science/</u> anthropology/History-of-anthropology#ref839878 Verhoog, H. And Visser, T. (1997). A view of intrinsic value not based on animal consciousness. In Dol, M., Kasanmoentalib, S, and Lijmbach, S. (Eds.) *Animal Consciousness and Animal Ethics: Perspectives from the Netherlands*. Van Gorcum, 1997. <u>https://www.louisbolk.nl/sites/default/files/publication/pdf/40.pdf</u>

Warren, M. A. (1997). *Moral Status: Obligations to Persons and Other Living Things (Issues in Biomedical Ethics)*. Clarendon Press.

Watts, V. (2013). Indigenous place-thought and agency amongst humans and non humans (First woman and sky woman go on a European world tour!). *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society, 2*, 20-34.

Zimmerman, M. E. (1990). *Heidegger's Confrontation with Modernity: Technology, Politics, and Art.* Indiana University Press.

Zimmerman, M. E. (1983). Heidegger and Heraclitus on Spiritual Practice. *Philosophy Today* 27.